Communication of Genetic Risk in Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer and Lynch syndrome: Challenges and Prospects for Public Health and Clinical Practice

Inaugural dissertation

To be awarded the degree of Dr. sc. med.

presented at

the Faculty of Medicine

of the University of Basel

by

Carla Pedrazzani

From Como, Italy

Basel, 2022

Original document stored on the publication server of the University of Basel edoc.unibas.ch



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

Approved by the Faculty of Medicine

On application of Prof. Dr. Maria C. Katapodi, first supervisor Dr. Nicole Bürki, second supervisor Prof. Dr. Maria Caiata-Zufferey, further advisor Prof. Dr. Sandra Daack-Hirsch, external expert

Basel, June 20th 2022

Prof. Dr. Primo Schär Dean

ABSTRACT

In hereditary cancers, family communication of genetic information is essential to enable family members' independent decision making about genetic risk assessment and counselling. In Switzerland, as in many other countries, due to privacy law, communication of genetic test results to at-risk relatives is proband-mediated and currently it is the only way genetic information can be passed on. However, uptake of genetic services among at-risk relatives is less than 50%, suggesting poor family communication and inefficacy of proband-mediated approaches in disseminating genetic information. This PhD thesis aims to explore the challenges of communication of genetic risk in hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC) and Lynch Syndrome (LS), to identify prospects for public health and clinical practice and to propose a theoretical framework aiming to improve nursing practice around dissemination of genetic information. To reach the aim, three studies have been conducted: a cross-study comparison exploring genetic literacy using data collected from three sequential studies conducted in the U.S. and Switzerland over ≥ 10 years; a descriptive cross-sectional study using narrative data to clarify the process of communicating genetic risk to relatives; a descriptive study presenting an empirically-based framework to guide nursing practice for enhancing access to genetic services. The thesis demonstrates gaps in the dissemination of genetic information among at-risk relatives and confirms difficulties and a high level of complexity in the process of proband-mediated communication. It emphasises the need of interventions at the clinical and public health levels and suggests concrete actions to facilitate dissemination of genetic information and access to genetic services. To guide genomic nursing care, the thesis proposes the ACCESS model which focuses on promoting access to care, providing decisional support, supporting active coping, family risk communication and cascade screening, and ensuring ongoing surveillance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2 – FIRST ARTICLE	13
Genetic Literacy And Communication Of Genetic Information In Families Concerne With Hereditary Breast And Ovarian Cancer: A Cross-Study Comparison In Two	ed
Countries And Within A Timeframe Of More Than 10 Years	13
CHAPTER 3 – SECOND ARTICLE	35
Defining The Communication Chain Of Genetic Risk: An Analysis Of Narrative Dat Exploring Proband-Provider And Proband-Family Communication In Hereditary	ta
Breast And Ovarian Cancer	35
CHAPTER 4 – THIRD ARTICLE	67
Addressing disparities in genomic healthcare through the nursing workforce: The	
ACCESS framework	67
CHAPTER 5 - DISCUSSION	85
ADDITIONAL MANUSCRIPTS	92
CONTRIBUTION	93
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	94

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION

Inherited cancer syndromes, as opposed to sporadic cancers that develop due to random somatic mutations, occur due to germline mutations that are transmitted from parents to offspring, conferring a variable risk of developing different and multiple early-onset cancers [1]. Germline pathogenic variants in BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes are associated with most hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC) cases, which account approximately for 5-10% and 15%-25% of all breast and ovarian cancer cases respectively [2]. Such pathogenic variants can be found in about 1 of 300-500 individuals in the general population. They confer a 69-72% and 17-44% cumulative risk of breast and ovarian cancer, respectively, by age 80 (12% and 1.3% lifetime risks in the general population) and an elevated risk of pancreatic and prostate cancers [3]. Lynch syndrome (LS) is another frequently occurring hereditary cancer condition, which accounts for about 2%-5% of colorectal and endometrial cancer cases, as well as several other malignancies. It is associated by inherited germline pathogenic variants in mismatch repair (MMR) genes and it is associated with 22-74% and 14-71% cumulative risk of colorectal and endometrial cancer, respectively, by age 70 (5.5% and 2.7% lifetime risks in general population) [4].

Germline pathogenic variants connected to most hereditary cancers, among which HBOC and LS, are transmitted in an autosomal dominant manner, which means that first-, second-, and third-degree relatives and first cousins of carriers have respectively 50%, 25% and 12.5% probability for inheriting the cancer predisposition [1]. Thus, in addition to carrier's individual cancer risk, it is also essential to manage the potential cancer risk for relatives through genetic services, i.e., counselling and testing. These are essential and recommended strategies to assess genetic risk and to support at-risk individuals in decision-making for effective cancer prevention and control interventions [5-6]. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) - Office for Public Health Genomics, HBOC, LS and familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) are Tier 1 genetic conditions, meaning that they are "actionable" and that there is a significant potential for positive impact on public health based on available evidence-based guidelines and recommendations [6]. In such conditions, clear steps at the individual, community, and public health level can be followed to improve health and prevent disease.

Cascade screening is among the most import public health interventions. It is the process of extending genomic services to first-, second-, and third-degree relatives of individuals who carry a germline pathogenic variant. Positive cascade test results can inform clinical management strategies to reduce morbidity and mortality, while negative results can help ameliorate distress and decrease unnecessary healthcare expenditures [6].

To enable independent decision making about genetic risk assessment and counselling and to enhance cascade screening, communication of genetic risk to members of families with hereditary cancers predisposition is essential [7-8]. However, the individual's autonomy and privacy regarding genetic information is protected, according to the Federal Act on Human Genetic Testing (HGTA), which is the legal regulation in Switzerland for clinical practice of genetic testing, as well as in many other countries worldwide. Thus communication of genetic test results to at-risk relatives is probandmediated, meaning that it is the responsibility and duty of the proband (the individual identified with the pathogenic variant) to disseminate genetic information to their at-risk relatives [9-10]. Currently this is the primary way genetic information can be passed on to relatives with the proband's responsibility to share genetic testing results and their implications for relatives and to advocate for cascade screening.

Empirical evidence shows that uptake of genetic services and cascade testing among atrisk relatives is less than 50%, suggesting poor family communication and inefficacy of proband-mediated approaches in disseminating genetic information [11]. It is reported that about 20-40% of at-risk relatives, mainly second-degree and beyond, remain unaware of relevant genetic information and that frequently they are not well informed [12]. Probands mainly recognize their responsibility to inform relatives, and the majority have a sense of obligation towards relatives who need to know their risk and should be encouraged to get tested. However, this responsibility may be experienced as a burden and a dilemma [13-15]. The proband's decision and strategy around disclosure of genetic information are highly variable. A wide variety of barriers and factors related to the individual (i.e. mutation status, disease risk and severity; level of psychological adaptation; motivation) and the family (i.e. proximity and quality of the relationship; past experience with cancer; family rules and patterns) may affect them [7-8, 16-18]. Consequently, information to family may be deliberately withheld or there may be a failure to inform despite the intention to communicate or information may be inappropriate or delayed [19-20].

Genetic literacy facilitates seeking genetic evaluation and making informed decisions about genetic testing and cascade screening [21-22]. It refers to awareness about genetic risk factors, how they contribute to disease and understanding the chance of inheriting the genetic predisposition and developing the disease [21–24]. Genetic knowledge is especially important for individuals and families concerned with Tier 1 genetic conditions to enhance cascade screening. Indeed, it is recognized that when probands share information received during the consultation process, relatives' knowledge of cancer genetics, accuracy of risk perception and contacts with genetic services increase [25-26]. Thus, examining genetic literacy helps understand how genetic information is passed on from healthcare providers to probands and from probands to relatives. Provider-mediated approaches to family information have been studied and adopted in some countries (i.e. provider direct contact, proband- or family- mediated contact with assistance from a healthcare provider, etc.) to face the issue of poor communication of genetic test results and increase accuracy and efficiency of information, [8, 11, 27]. They seem to be more effective than proband-mediated approaches but they have to consider probands' and relatives' preferences about contact modalities, feasibility, sustainability and legal implications, complying with local legislation [8, 11, 27]. However, proband involvement still remains a crucial issue even in more active approaches to inform at-risk relatives (e.g. informed consent to contact relatives, providing contact information, etc.) [8, 28]. Communication of genetic risk to family members is indeed extremely complex. It brings up a tension between the individual's right to privacy and autonomy on the one hand, and the dissemination of genetic information to family members and implication for public health on the other. Genetic information is indeed hybrid in nature: it belongs to the individuals, but also, to a certain extent, to their relatives. Respect for privacy and autonomy and in the meantime fairness and solidarity, arise thus a tension between individual interest and public health [10].

Nurses are at the forefront in genomic healthcare and can help in mitigate disparities in access to genetic information and in genomic healthcare. They are the most numerous and trusted of health professionals [29-30], have a long history of delivering holistic person- and family-centred care and are in a unique position in supporting individuals carrying germline pathogenic variants and their families. Many efforts have been done to integrate genomic competencies into nursing education and practice [31-32] but there is still a need for a unifying model to guide genomic nursing care and healthcare system policies.

The aim of this PhD project was thus to explore the challenges of communication of genetic risk in HBOC and LS, to identify prospects for public health and clinical practice and to propose a theoretical framework aiming to improve practice around familial communication and dissemination of genetic information to relatives.

Switzerland is a particularly suitable context for studying this phenomenon. Genetic risk communication is proband-mediated, some recommendations about supporting family communication to clinicians are given and the national healthcare system facilitates access to genetic services due to the national insurance system. Moreover, Switzerland is a country with limited social disparities and therefore, in principle, everyone has the social and cultural resources to access genetic services.

To reach the aim, three studies have been conducted:

- 1) A cross-study comparison explores genetic literacy both at the individual and the family level using data collected from three sequential studies conducted in the U.S. and Switzerland over ≥10 years. The purpose of the study is to examine genetic literacy among individuals who had genetic counselling for HBOC and how much of this information has been shared with their relatives. Specific aims are first to describe and compare genetic literacy between two groups of individuals, namely those who had genetic counselling for HBOC and their relatives who did not; and second to explore factors influencing genetic literacy both at the individual and at the family level.
- 2) A descriptive cross-sectional study using narrative data from three linguistic regions of Switzerland, clarifies the process of communicating genetic risk to relatives, based on the assumption that there is a communication chain along which information about genetic risk proceeds from healthcare providers to

carriers of pathogenic variants, and from carriers to relatives. The study's objectives are to explore how healthcare providers address family communication of genetic risk with probands; how probands decide to communicate genetic risk to relatives; how healthcare providers communication with probands may affect probands' decision to communicate genetic risk to relatives.

The study has been conducted in the framework of the CASCADE study, an openended cohort designed to elicit factors that enhance cascade genetic screening for HBOC and Lynch Syndrome (LS) in Switzerland (NCT03124212) [33].

3) Finally, a descriptive study presents an empirically-based framework, the ACCESS framework, to guide nursing practice for supporting disclosure of genetic information to relatives and, more in general, access to genetic services. The model was developed in a sequential, iterative process by an international group of nurse investigators from diverse healthcare systems and settings focusing on different genetic conditions.

References

- Garber JE, Offit K. Hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2005 Jan 10;23(2):276-92. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.10.042. PMID: 15637391.
- Mahdavi M, Nassiri M, Kooshyar MM, Vakili-Azghandi M, Avan A, Sandry R, Pillai S, Lam AK, Gopalan V. Hereditary breast cancer; Genetic penetrance and current status with BRCA. J Cell Physiol. 2019 May;234(5):5741-5750. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27464. Epub 2018 Dec 14. PMID: 30552672.
- 3. Kuchenbaecker KB, Hopper JL, Barnes DR, Phillips KA, Mooij TM, Roos-Blom MJ, Jervis S, van Leeuwen FE, Milne RL, Andrieu N, Goldgar DE, Terry MB, Rookus

MA, Easton DF, Antoniou AC; BRCA1 and BRCA2 Cohort Consortium, McGuffog L, Evans DG, Barrowdale D, Frost D, Adlard J, Ong KR, Izatt L, Tischkowitz M, Eeles R, Davidson R, Hodgson S, Ellis S, Nogues C, Lasset C, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Fricker JP, Faivre L, Berthet P, Hooning MJ, van der Kolk LE, Kets CM, Adank MA, John EM, Chung WK, Andrulis IL, Southey M, Daly MB, Buys SS, Osorio A, Engel C, Kast K, Schmutzler RK, Caldes T, Jakubowska A, Simard J, Friedlander ML, McLachlan SA, Machackova E, Foretova L, Tan YY, Singer CF, Olah E, Gerdes AM, Arver B, Olsson H. Risks of Breast, Ovarian, and Contralateral Breast Cancer for BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers. JAMA. 2017 Jun 20;317(23):2402-2416. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7112. PMID: 28632866.

- Ma H, Brosens LAA, Offerhaus GJA, Giardiello FM, de Leng WWJ, Montgomery EA. Pathology and genetics of hereditary colorectal cancer. Pathology. 2018 Jan;50(1):49-59. doi: 10.1016/j.pathol.2017.09.004. Epub 2017 Nov 21. PMID: 29169633.
- Khoury MJ, Iademarco MF, Riley WT. Precision Public Health for the Era of Precision Medicine. Am J Prev Med. 2016 Mar;50(3):398-401. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2015.08.031. Epub 2015 Nov 4. PMID: 26547538; PMCID: PMC4915347.
- Khoury MJ, Bowen MS, Clyne M, Dotson WD, Gwinn ML, Green RF, Kolor K, Rodriguez JL, Wulf A, Yu W. From public health genomics to precision public health: a 20-year journey. Genet Med. 2018 Jun;20(6):574-582. doi: 10.1038/gim.2017.211. Epub 2017 Dec 14. PMID: 29240076; PMCID: PMC6384815.
- Chopra I, Kelly K.M. Cancer Risk Information Sharing: The Experience of Individuals Receiving Genetic Counseling for BRCA1/2 Mutations. J Health Commun. 2017; 22(2): 143-152.

- Schwiter, R., Rahm, A.K., Williams, J.L. et al. How Can We Reach At-Risk Relatives? Efforts to Enhance Communication and Cascade Testing Uptake: a Mini-Review. Curr Genet Med Rep 6, 21–27 (2018). <u>https://doiorg.proxy2.biblio.supsi.ch/10.1007/s40142-018-0134-0</u>
- Rothstein MA. Reconsidering the duty to warn genetically at-risk relatives. Genet Med. 2018;20(3):285-290. doi: 10.1038/gim.2017.257. Epub 2018 Feb 1. PMID: 29388945.
- Federal Assembly of the Swiss Confederation. Federal Act on Human Genetic Testing. [2017-09-08]. https://www.fedlex.admin.ch/eli/cc/2007/131/en
- 11. Menko FH, Ter Stege JA, van der Kolk LE, Jeanson KN, Schats W, Moha DA, Bleiker EMA. The uptake of presymptomatic genetic testing in hereditary breastovarian cancer and Lynch syndrome: a systematic review of the literature and implications for clinical practice. Fam Cancer. 2019;18(1):127-135. doi: 10.1007/s10689-018-0089-z. PMID: 29846880.
- 12. Hodgson JM, Metcalfe SA, Aitken M, Donath SM, Gaff CL, Winship IM, Delatycki MB, Skene LL, McClaren BJ, Paul JL, Halliday JL. Improving family communication after a new genetic diagnosis: a randomised controlled trial of a genetic counselling intervention. BMC Med Genet. 2014;15:33.
- 13. Wiseman M, Dancyger C, Michie S. Communicating genetic risk information within families: a review. Fam Cancer. 2010; 9:691-703.
- MacKenzie A, Patrick-Miller L, Bradbury A R (2009) Controversies in Communication of Genetic Risk for Hereditary Breast Cancer. The Breast Journal. 15 Suppl. (1): 25-32.

- 15. Leenen CH, Heijer Md, van der Meer C, Kuipers EJ, van Leerdam ME, Wagner A. Genetic testing for Lynch syndrome: family communication and motivation. Fam Cancer. 2016;15(1):63-73.
- Pollard S, Kalloger S, Weymann D, Sun S, Nuk J, Schrader KA, Regier DA. Genetic testing for hereditary cancer syndromes: patient recommendations for improved risk communication. Health Expect. 2020 Aug;23(4):884-892. doi: 10.1111/hex.13062. Epub 2020 Apr 27. PMID: 32338425; PMCID: PMC7495068.
- Seven M, Shah LL, Yazici H, Daack-Hirsch S. From Probands to Relatives: Communication of Genetic Risk for Hereditary Breast-Ovarian Cancer and Its Influence on Subsequent Testing. Cancer Nurs. 2022 Jan-Feb 01;45(1):E91-E98. doi: 10.1097/NCC.000000000000876. PMID: 32804756.
- Dean M, Tezak AL, Johnson S, Pierce JK, Weidner A, Clouse K, Pal T, Cragun D. Sharing genetic test results with family members of BRCA, PALB2, CHEK2, and ATM carriers. Patient Educ Couns. 2021 Apr;104(4):720-725. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2020.12.019. Epub 2021 Jan 5. PMID: 33455826; PMCID: PMC8005459.
- Dheensa S, Fenwick A, Shkedi-Rafid S, Crawford G, Lucassen A. Health-care professionals' responsibility to patients' relatives in genetic medicine: a systematic review and synthesis of empirical research. Genet Med. 2016 Apr;18(4):290-301. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.72. Epub 2015 Jun 25. PMID: 26110233; PMCID: PMC4823639.
- 20. Healey E, Taylor N, Greening S, Wakefield CE, Warwick L, Williams R, Tucker K. Quantifying family dissemination and identifying barriers to communication of risk information in Australian BRCA families. Genet Med. 2017 Dec;19(12):1323-1331. doi: 10.1038/gim.2017.52. Epub 2017 May 11. PMID: 28492536.

- 21. Hurle, B.; Citrin, T.; Jenkins, J.F.; Kaphingst, K.A.; Lamb, N.; Roseman, J.E.; Bonham, V.L. What does it mean to be genomically literate?: National Human Genome Research Institute Meeting Report. Genet. Med. 2013, 15, 658–663, https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2013.14.
- 22. Lea, D.; Kaphingst, K.; Bowen, D.; Lipkus, I.; Hadley, D. Communicating Genetic and Genomic Information: Health Literacy and Numeracy Considerations. Public Heal. Genom. 2011, 14, 279–289, <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000294191</u>.
- Boerwinkel, D.J.; Yarden, A.; Waarlo, A.J. Reaching a Consensus on the Definition of Genetic Literacy that Is Required from a Twenty-First-Century Citizen. Sci. Educ. 2017, 26, 1087–1114, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-017-9934-y.
- 24. Smerecnik, C.M.; Mesters, I.; de Vries, N.K.; de Vries, H. Educating the general public about multifactorial genetic disease: ap-plying a theory-based framework to understand current public knowledge. Genet. Med. 2008, 10, 251–258, https://doi.org/10.1097/gim.0b013e31816b4ffd.
- 25. Himes, D.O.; Davis, S.H.; Lassetter, J.H.; Peterson, N.E.; Clayton, M.; Birmingham, W.C.; Kinney, A. Does family communica-tion matter? Exploring knowledge of breast cancer genetics in cancer families. J. Community Genet. 2019, 10, 481–487, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12687-019-00413-y.
- 26. Himes, D.O.; Clayton, M.; Donaldson, G.W.; Ellington, L.; Buys, S.S.; Kinney, A. Breast Cancer Risk Perceptions among Rela-tives of Women with Uninformative Negative BRCA1/2 Test Results: The Moderating Effect of the Amount of Shared Infor-mation. J. Genet. Couns. 2015, 25, 258–269, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-015-9866-0</u>.

- 27. Mendes Á, Paneque M, Sousa L, Clarke A, Sequeiros J. How communication of genetic information within the family is addressed in genetic counselling: a systematic review of research evidence. Eur J Hum Genet. 2016;24(3):315-25.
- 28. Henrikson NB, Blasi P, Figueroa Gray M, Tiffany BT, Scrol A, Ralston JD, Fullerton SM, Lim CY, Ewing J, Leppig KA. Patient and Family Preferences on Health System-Led Direct Contact for Cascade Screening. J Pers Med. 2021 Jun 10;11(6):538. doi: 10.3390/jpm11060538. PMID: 34200550; PMCID: PMC8230217.
- 29. World Health Organization Technical Bulletin. WHO Global Health Workforce Statistics. 2022. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/indicator-groups/indicator-groupdetails/GHO/nursing-and-midwifery-personnel</u>
- 30. ONS Voice. Nurses Ranked Most Trust Profession in 2019, 2019. Retrieved from https://voice.ons.org/advocacy/nurses-ranked-most-trusted-profession-in-2019
- Lea DH. Position statement: integrating genetics competencies into baccalaureate and advanced nursing education. Nurs Outlook. 2002 Jul-Aug;50(4):167-8. doi: 10.1067/mno.2002.127296. PMID: 12189353.
- 32. Conley YP, Heitkemper M, McCarthy D, Anderson CM, Corwin EJ, Daack-Hirsch S, Dorsey SG, Gregory KE, Groer MW, Henly SJ, Landers T, Lyon DE, Taylor JY, Voss J. Educating future nursing scientists: Recommendations for integrating omics content in PhD programs. Nurs Outlook. 2015 Jul-Aug;63(4):417-27. doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2015.06.006. Epub 2015 Jun 12. PMID: 26123776; PMCID: PMC7849773.
- 33. Sarki M, Ming C, Aissaoui S, Bürki N, Caiata-Zufferey M, Erlanger TE, Graffeo-Galbiati R, Heinimann K, Heinzelmann-Schwarz V, Monnerat C, Probst-Hensch N, Rabaglio M, Zürrer-Härdi U, Chappuis PO, Katapodi MC, On Behalf Of The Cascade

Consortium. Intention to Inform Relatives, Rates of Cascade Testing, and Preference for Patient-Mediated Communication in Families Concerned with Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer and Lynch Syndrome: The Swiss CASCADE Cohort. Cancers (Basel). 2022 Mar 23;14(7):1636. doi: 10.3390/cancers14071636. PMID: 35406409; PMCID: PMC8997156.

CHAPTER 2 – FIRST ARTICLE

Genetic Literacy And Communication Of Genetic Information In Families Concerned With Hereditary Breast And Ovarian Cancer: A Cross-Study Comparison In Two Countries And Within A Timeframe Of More Than 10 Years

Authors: Carla Pedrazzani, Chang Ming, Nicole Bürki, Maria Caiata-Zufferey, Pierre O. Chappuis, Debra Duquette, Karl Heinimann, Viola Heinzelmann-Schwarz, Rossella Graffeo-Galbiati, Sofia D. Merajver, Kara J. Milliron, Christian Monnerat, Olivia Pagani, Manuela Rabaglio and Maria C. Katapodi on be-half of the CASCADE Consortium

Published in: Cancers, 13(24), 6254. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13246254

Abstract: Examining genetic literacy in families concerned with hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC) helps understand how genetic information is passed on from individuals who had genetic counselling to their at-risk relatives. This cross-study comparison explored genetic literacy both at the individual and the family level using data collected from three sequential studies con-ducted in the U.S. and Switzerland over ≥ 10 years. Participants were primarily females, at-risk or confirmed carriers of HBOC-associated pathogenic variants, who had genetic counselling, and ≥ 1 of their relatives who did not. Fifteen items assessed genetic literacy. Among 1933 individuals from 518 families, 38.5% had genetic counselling and 61.5% did not. Although genetic literacy was higher among participants who had counselling, some risk factors were poorly

understood. At the individual level, genetic literacy was associated with having counselling, \leq 5 years ago, higher education, and family history of cancer. At the family level, genetic literacy was associated with having counselling, higher education, and a cancer diagnosis. The findings suggest that specific genetic information should be emphasized during consultations, and that at-risk relatives feel less informed about inherited cancer risk, even if information is shared within families. There is a need to increase access to genetic information among at-risk individuals.

1. Introduction

Genetic literacy is the ability to understand and use genetic information for health-related decision-making [1, 2]. It refers to awareness about genetic risk factors, how they contribute to disease, understanding the chance of inheriting the genetic predisposition and developing the disease [1–4]. Genetic literacy facilitates seeking genetic evaluation and making informed decisions about genetic testing [1, 3, 5]. However, there are significant knowledge gaps in the general population, in stark contrast to the current levels of genetic and genomic discoveries and achievements in medicine and public health [1, 3, 6, 7]. Factors like age, race and ethnicity, education and socioeconomic status, and personal and family health history influence genetic literacy [3, 6, 8, 9], as well as access to specialized services [1, 10]. Finally, variations in genetic literacy have been reported for people living in different countries [7, 9].

Genetic literacy is especially important for families concerned with actionable (Tier 1) genetic conditions, such as hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC) [11]. HBOC is caused by germline autosomal dominant pathogenic variants; first-, second-, and third-degree relatives have a 50%, 25%, and 12.5% probability, respectively, of inheriting the

familial pathogenic variant [12]. In addition to managing the cancer risk of individuals carrying HBOC-associated pathogenic variants, it is also essential to address the potentially increased risk to relatives through cascade testing [11, 13]. Due to privacy laws in most countries, individuals carrying HBOC-associated variants have a key role in disseminating genetic information to relatives and in advocating for cascade testing [14, 15]. The proportion of relatives who initiate contact with genetic services and their knowledge of cancer genetics increases with genetic consultation [16, 17], and when counselled individuals share information received during the consultation process [18, 19].

Examining genetic literacy in the context of HBOC helps understand how genetic information is passed on from healthcare providers to index cases i.e., first in the family identified with a pathogenic variant, during genetic counselling, and from index cases to relatives. This is an essential step to support HBOC cascade testing. The purpose of this study is to explore genetic literacy among individuals who had genetic counselling for HBOC, i.e., whether they can recall information about genetic risk factors, modes of inheritance, and probability of developing an HBOC-associated cancer, and how much of this information has been shared with their relatives. Specific aims are first to describe and compare genetic literacy between two groups of individuals, namely those who had genetic counselling for HBOC and their relatives who did not; and second to explore factors influencing genetic literacy both at the individual and at the family level. To achieve these aims we examined data collected from three sequential studies conducted in the U.S. and Switzerland over a timeframe of more than 10 years. Pooling data across studies is feasible, since there are many similarities in the delivery and contents of genetic counselling in different countries [20].

2. Materials and Methods

This cross-study comparison used descriptive data from three family-based studies: a cross-sectional study conducted in 2007 in the US [21], baseline data from a randomized trial (RCT) conducted in 2012 in the US (NCT 01612338) [22], and baseline data from an ongoing cohort initiated in 2017 in Switzerland (NCT03124212) [23]. All studies were approved by the appropriate Institutional Review and Scientific Advisory Boards and Ethical Committees (HUM00011707 and HUM00055949, approved on 10.05.2007 and 14.10.2011 respectively, are exempt due to analysis of fully anonymized data; BASEC 2016-02052, approved on 06.02.2017, is ongoing). For this cross-study comparison we pooled participants and divided them into two distinct groups: individuals who had genetic counselling for HBOC, i.e., "exposed" to counsel-ling and one or more of their first-, or second-, or third-degree relatives who did not have counselling, i.e., "not exposed".

All three studies recruited individuals 18 years or older using the same procedures, identifying potentially eligible participants either from genetic clinics [21, 23] or from a state-wide cancer registry [22]. The 2007 US-based cross-sectional study identified females who had genetic counselling in a comprehensive cancer center with approximately 65% identified as carrying an HBOC-associated pathogenic variant [21]. The 2012 US-based RCT identified females diagnosed with breast cancer younger than 45 years old from a state-wide cancer registry, with 25% reportedly receiving genetic consultation at enrolment [22]. The Swiss-based cohort recruits both males and females who are confirmed carriers of an HBOC-associated pathogenic variant and who joined the cohort between January 2017 and January 2021 [23].

In all three studies, potentially eligible participants were mailed study materials from each recruitment site (genetic clinic or cancer registry). Those agreeing to participate returned

a signed consent form, revealing their name and address to the research team, and were asked to approach and pass on recruitment materials to relatives. Relatives who accepted participation also returned a signed consent, revealing their name, address, and degree of biological relation to the person who initiated the invitation. Inviting relatives was not a mandatory requirement for participating in the three studies, while each participant could invite one or more relatives. Details about recruitment of participants and relatives have been reported for each original study [21-23]. All studies mailed self-administered questionnaires, which were identical for those that had counselling and those who did not. Genetic literacy was assessed with items used in all three studies, and was conceptualized as having two components, i.e., objective knowledge of cancer genetics and genetic affinity [9, 24]. Objective knowledge of cancer genetics included genetic risk factors, and probabilities of carrying a pathogenic variant and developing the disease. This information consists the "core knowledge" explained during genetic counselling. Objective knowledge was assessed with 13 items, asking participants to respond "True", "False", or "Do not Know" to statements related to this "core knowledge" [25]. Objective knowledge of cancer genetics was examined first through an overall score, calculated by summing the number of correct answers, and second by examining each knowledge item individually to reveal patterns of potentially not well-understood in-formation. Cronbach's α was greater than 0.85 in all three original studies and was 0.88 in the whole sample of the cross-study comparison. Genetic affinity, i.e., perceptions of being informed about cancer genetics and cancer risk, was assessed with two items asking: "How well informed do you feel about the probability of getting cancer?" ranging from 1 "Not at all informed" to 7 "Very Informed" and "How much do you know about the genetics of cancer?" ranging from 1 "Not at all" to 7 "A great deal". A genetic affinity score was calculated by summing responses in these two items.

Questionnaires also assessed demographics i.e., age, gender, race and ethnicity, marital status, education, employment, and clinical characteristics i.e., personal history of cancer "Yes" or "No"; family history of cancer "Yes" or "No"; years since personal cancer diagnosis " \leq 5 years" or ">5 years"; and years since genetic counselling " \leq 5 years" or ">5 years". We selected five years as a cut-off to assess the relevance of personal cancer diagnosis and years since genetic counselling since international guidelines consider this timeframe indicative of cancer survival [26].

Data analyses were performed in R version 4.0.4 [27]. Demographic and clinical characteristics were described by counselling status (counselled/not counselled) per study and for the total sample. Continuous variables were described using means and standard deviations (SD) and categorical variables with frequency of observations (n) and percentages (%). Differences between the two groups (counselled/not counselled) were examined on two primary outcomes i.e., objective knowledge of cancer genetics and genetic affinity, using t-test for means and chi-square or Fisher's exact test for counts. The two-sided significance level was set at 5% for all tests, and Bonferroni corrections were used to address multiple testing.

A linear mixed-effect model examined factors that may influence the sum scores of primary outcomes, i.e., demographics, personal and family history of cancer, time since cancer diagnosis and time since genetic counselling, recruitment from genetic clinics or the cancer registry, and country (US and Switzerland). The mixed model incorporated a study-specific random intercept which accommodated for including sub-jects from the same family unit (non-independent observations) within each study. All factors were considered as fixed effects. To address factors influencing primary out-comes within family units, we also conducted sensitivity analyses by adding a family unit-specific random intercept to the previous linear mixed-effect model. The sensitivity analyses

included only family units with more than one member enrolled in each of the three studies.

3. Results

The overall sample included a total of n = 1933 participants from n = 518 family units, with the majority (n = 1660, 85.9%) being from the US. Approximately 70% selfidentified as White and 30% as belonging to minority racial or ethnic groups, i.e., Black or African American, American Indian or Alaskan Native, Arab or Arab American, Asian or Southeast Asian, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander for the US-based samples; and African or Asian for the Swiss-based sample (Table 1). Given the small number of participants from minority racial and ethnic minority groups, we treated them as a single group in subsequent analyses.

	Total Sample <i>n</i> = 1933			Study 1 (2007) <i>n</i> = 370			Stud	y 2 (2013) <i>n</i>	= 1290	Study 3 (2017) <i>n</i> = 273		
Characteristics	Counsell ed <i>n</i> = 745	Not Counselle d n = 1188	p	Counsel ed <i>n</i> = 200	Not Counselle d n = 170	p	Counse lled n = 313	e Not Counselled 3 <i>n</i> = 977	p	Counsell ed n = 232	Not Counsell ed n = 41	p
Age (years)—mean (SD)	50.3 (10.3)	48.5 (11.0)	<0.001	50.6 (11.0)	48.7 (16.0)	0.53	48.7 (7.0)	48.3 (9.7)	0.53	52 (12.8)	51 (15.3)	0.70
Race and ethnicity— White (%)	78.4	69.5	<0.001	91.0	94.1	1	67.1	64.2	0.38	82.8	95.1	0.07
Married or Partnered— Yes (%) Education	86.7	93.9	<0.001	75.5	66.5	0.02	99.7	99.5	1	78.9	75.6	0.69
Elementary school (%)	10.3	20.9		8.5	14.1		15.7	22.7		4.7	4.9	
High degree school (%)	50.1	56.9	<0.0001	24.5	31.2	0.04	62.3	61.4	0.001	55.6	56.1	0.79
(%)	38.9	20.7		67.0	54.7		21.4	14.3		38.4	31.7	
Employed—Yes (%)	64.0	64.1	1	65.5	67.6	0.74	66.1	63.8	0.48	59.9	58.5	1
Cancer diagnosis—Yes (%)	69.5	50.6	< 0.0001	53.5	11.8	< 0.0001	89.7	59.2	< 0.0001	56.0	7.3	<0.001
Family history of cancer— Yes (%)	80.8	85.4	0.01	67.5	71.2	0.51	88.5	87.2	0.61	81.9	100.0	<0.01

Table 1. Demographics and clinical characteristics of the samples.

Among participants, 745 (38.5%) had genetic counselling and 1188 (61.5%) did not. In the overall sample and in each individual study separately, participants who had counselling were more likely to have a cancer diagnosis compared to those who did not

(69.5% vs. 50.6%, p < 0.0001). Those who had counselling were older, more likely to self-identify as White, married, and had higher education.

Knowledge of cancer genetics (total score) was overall higher in individuals who had counselling, with approximately 10 out of 13 items answered correctly (11, 9.5 and 9.5 items out of 13 in the three studies, respectively). The total score for individuals who did not have genetic counselling was 7.8 (Table 2).

	Total S	Sample <i>i</i>	ı = 1933	Study 1 (2007) <i>n</i> = 370			Study 2	2 (2013) 1	n = 1290	Study 3 (2019) <i>n</i> = 273			
	Counsel led <i>n</i> = 745	Not Counse led <i>n</i> = 1188	1	Counsel led <i>n</i> = 200	Not Counsel led n = 170		Counsel led n = 313	Not Counsel led <i>n</i> = 977	l	Counsel led <i>n</i> = 232	Not Counse led <i>n</i> = 41	1	
	Corre	ct (%)	р	Corre	ct (%)	р	Corre	ct (%)	р	Corre	ct (%)	р	
Cancer can be caused by a pathogenic variant passed on from one generation to the next	91.4	76.0	<0.0001	96.5	91.2	0.05	86.3	72.7	<0.0001	94.0	92.7	0.72	
Families with a pathogenic variant in the BRCA1 or BRCA2 genes are likely to have cases of breast cancer in more than one generation	84.6	53.5	<0.0001	87.5	57.6	<0.001	77.6	51.4	<0.0001	91.4	87.8	0.55	
		A woma	n's risk f	or getting	; breast ca	ancer is	higher wł	nen she					
has a family history of ovarian cancer	74.6	51.1	<0.0001	80.5	69.4	0.01	65.5	47.5	<0.0001	81.9	61.0	0.004	
has a relative diagnosed with breast cancer younger than 50 years old	57.9	63.6	0.01	72.0	61.8	0.04	76.7	66.1	<0.001	20.3	12.2	0.31	
has a family history of breast cancer from the dad's side of the family	74.6	56.7	<0.0001	88.5	87.1	0.79	62.3	51.4	<0.001	79.3	58.5	<0.01	
breast cancer from the mom's side of the family	87.8	77.3	<0.001	93.5	92.9	0.99	82.7	75.1	<0.01	89.7	63.4	<0.001	
has breast and ovarian cancer in the same side of the family	82.0	68.7	<0.0001	88.0	85.3	0.54	78.9	66.6	<0.0001	81.0	48.8	<0.001	
has a pathogenic variant in the BRCA1 or BRCA2 genes	88.1	53.7	<0.0001	89.0	76.5	<0.01	82.1	49.0	<0.0001	95.3	61.0	<0.0001	
is from Ashkenazi Jewish descent	38.3	13.5	<0.0001	62.5	33.5	<0.001	32.2	10.3	<0.0001	25.4	4.9	<0.01	
has a male relative who had breast cancer	65.1	47.8	<0.0001	73.0	65.9	0.17	60.1	44.7	<0.0001	65.1	46.3	0.03	

 Table 2. Objective knowledge of cancer genetics.

has a relative with												
breast cancer in both	78.9	68.3	< 0.001	86.0	85.3	0.96	75.1	65.9	<0.01	78.0	53.7	0.001
breasts												
has a relative who had												
both breast and ovarian	82.6	71.5	< 0.001	85.0	84.1	0.92	81.5	69.8	< 0.0001	81.9	61.0	< 0.01
cancer												
has multiple relatives	Q1 7	80.6	0.58	01 5	04.1	0.44	817	70.7	0.06	60.4	16.2	<0.01
with breast cancer	01.7	80.0	0.56	91.5	94.1	0.44	04.7	19.1	0.00	09.4	40.5	<0.01
Total correct answers	0.0(2.2)	70(20)	-0.0001	10.9	$0 \circ (2 \circ)$	-0.001	0 = (2, 6)	7 = (2, 8)	-0.0001	$0 \in (2, \mathbb{N})$	70(20)	0 0007
(0–13) — mean (SD)	9.9 (3.2)	7.0 (3.0)	<0.0001	(2.9)	9.8 (2.9)	<0.001	9.5 (3.6)	7.5 (5.6)	<0.0001	9.5 (2.6)	7.0 (3.9)	0.0002

Bold: *p* value still significant after Bonferroni correction.

The items least identified as risk factors in the overall sample, even among individuals who had genetic counselling, were: "...is from Ashkenazi Jewish descent" (38.3% counselled and 13.5% not counselled), "having a relative diagnosed with breast cancer younger than 50 years old" (57.9% counselled and 63.6% not counselled ") and "...having a male relative with breast cancer" (65.1% counselled and 47.8% not counselled). All other items were answered correctly by more than 70% of participants who had counselling. "Having multiple relatives with breast cancer" was the one item identified as a genetic risk factor from more than 80% of all respondents (81.7% counselled and 80.6% not counselled).

Risk factors with the greatest discrepancies among individuals who had counsel-ling and those who did not were: "...a family history of ovarian cancer" (74.6% counselled and 51.1% not counselled); "...a family history of breast cancer from the dad's side of the family" (74.6% counselled and 56.7% not counselled); "...a pathogenic variant in the BRCA1 or BRCA2 genes" (88.1% counselled and 53.7% not counselled); and "...have cases of breast cancer in more than one generation" (84.6% counselled and 53.5% not counselled).

Individuals who had counselling reported higher genetic affinity and feeling more informed about the probability of getting cancer and about the genetics of cancer compared to those who did (Table 3). The total genetic affinity score was 7.3 out of 14 among those not counselled. There was a low-moderate correlation between knowledge

of cancer genetics and genetic affinity in the overall sample (r= 0.38) and in the three studies (r = 0.28; r = 0.32; and r = 0.50, respectively).

	Total Sample <i>n</i> = 1933			Study 2	1 (2007) n	e = 370	Study	2 (2013) <i>n</i>	ı = 1290	Study 3 (2019) <i>n</i> = 273		
	Counselle d <i>n</i> = 745	Not Counsel led <i>n</i> = 1188		Counselle d <i>n</i> = 200	Not Counsel led n = 170		Counsel led <i>n</i> = 313	Not Counsel led n = 977		Counsel led n = 232	Not Counsel led n = 41	
	Mean	(SD)	p	Mean	(SD)	р	Mear	1 (SD)	р	Mear	ı (SD)	р
How informed do you feel about the chances of getting cancer? (1–7)	5.7 (1.3)	4.7 (1.8)	<0.0001	6.1 (1.2)	4.9 (1.4)	<0.0001	5.5 (1.6)	4.6 (1.8)	<0.0001	5.7 (1.1)	4.9 (1.8)	0.02
How much do you know about the genetics of cancer? (1–7)	4.6 (1.5)	3.0 (1.7)	<0.0001	5.0 (1.2)	3.8 (1.6)	<0.0001	4.4 (1.7)	2.8 (1.6)	<0.0001	4.4 (1.4)	3.6 (1.7)	<0.01
Sum score (2–14)	10.0 (2.9)	7.3 (3.3)	< 0.0001	10.9 (2.4)	8.6 (2.8)	< 0.0001	9.5 (3.4)	7.1 (3.3)	< 0.0001	9.9 (2.3)	8.1 (3.6)	0.003

Table 3. Genetic affinity.

Bold: *p* value still significant after Bonferroni correction.

Regression analyses in the overall sample showed that at the individual level higher genetic literacy (knowledge of cancer genetics and genetic affinity) were associated with having had counselling, less or equal to five years ago, a higher education, and a family history of cancer (Table 4). Being younger and self-identified as White were associated with higher knowledge of cancer genetics, while having had cancer was associated with higher genetic affinity. Sensitivity analysis at the family level, i.e., considering whether participants were members of the same family unit, showed that counselling, higher education, and a cancer diagnosis were still associated with higher knowledge of cancer genetic affinity (Table 5). Younger age and self-identified as White were associated with higher genetic affinity nuit. Variance partition coefficients in sensitivity analysis showed that only 7% and 6% of variance in knowledge of cancer genetics and genetic affinity, respectively, was contributed by family clustering.

	Knowledg 1895) *	e of Cancer C	Genetics (<i>n</i> =	Genetic Af	finity (<i>n</i> =	1895) *
	Estimate S	tandard Erro	r p	Estimate E	tandard rror	р
Age	-0.02	0.007	<0.001	-0.0004	0.007	0.95
Race and ethnicity (ref: White)	1.68	0.18	<0.0001	0.074	0.17	0.66
Education — (ref: Elementary school)	1.12	1.24	<0.0001	0.59	0.12	<0.0001
Employment (ref: No employment)	0.26	0.16	0.11	0.13	0.15	0.40
Cancer diagnosis (ref: No cancer)	0.21	0.21	0.33	0.59	0.21	<0.01
Genetic counselling (ref: No counselling)	0.80	0.27	<0.01	1.59	0.25	<0.0001
Family history of cancer (ref: No history)	1.45	0.25	<0.0001	0.50	0.23	0.03
Recruitment (ref: Clinic) Country (ref: US)	2.35 2.82	3.12 3.13	0.99 0.99	1.98 1.38	3.32 3.32	$1.00 \\ 1.00$
≤5 years since cancer		0110	0.77	1.00	0.01	100
diagnosis (ref: Never	0.05	0.32	0.88	0.39	0.30	0.19
diagnosed with cancer)						
>5 years since cancer						
diagnosis (ref: Never	0.36	0.21	0.09	0.29	0.19	0.14
diagnosed with cancer)						
≤5 years since counselling (ref: Never counselled)	0.86	0.31	<0.01	0.34	0.29	0.21
>5 years since counselling (ref: Never counselled)	1.16	0.34	<0.001	0.68	0.32	0.03

Table 4. Fixed effects from linear mixed-effect models for factors influencing knowledge of cancer genetics and genetic affinity in the overall sample at the individual level.

* the number of participants is lower compared to the overall sample due to missing data. **Bold**: p value still significant after Bonferroni correction

Table 5. Fixed effects from linear mixed-effect model for factors influencing knowledge of cancer genetics and genetic affinity in members from the same family unit.

	Knowledg	ge of Cancer (1163) *	Genetic Affinity (n = 1163) *				
	Estimate	Standard Error	p	Estimat e	Standard Error	р	
Age	-0.03	0.008	<0.0001	< 0.0001	0.007	0.99	
Race and ethnicity (ref: White)	1.47	0.26	<0.0001	0.018	0.24	0.94	
Education (ref: Elementary school)	0.98	0.15	<0.0001	0.54	0.14	<0.0001	
Employment (ref: No employment)	0.27	0.20	0.18	-0.083	0.18	0.65	
Cancer diagnosis (ref: No cancer)	0.72	0.27	<0.01	0.78	0.25	0.002	
Genetic counselling (ref: No counselling)	0.84	0.32	0.01	1.63	0.30	<0.0001	
Family history of cancer (ref: No history)	0.50	0.42	0.24	0.22	0.38	0.58	
Recruitment (ref: Clinic)	1.81	1.80	0.24	1.86	2.21	0.40	
Country (ref: US)	2.13	1.82	0.24	1.08	2.22	0.62	

≤5 years since cancer						
diagnosis (ref: Never	-0.08	0.43	0.83	0.53	0.39	0.18
diagnosed with cancer)						
>5 years since cancer						
diagnosis (ref: Never	0.20	0.31	0.51	0.20	0.28	0.50
diagnosed with cancer)						
≤5 years since counselling	0.10	0.20	0.62	-0.02	0.25	0.02
(ref: Never counselled)	0.19	0.39	0.03	-0.03	0.33	0.93
>5 years since counselling	0.65	0.45	0.14	0.64	0.41	0.11
(ref: Never counselled)	0.65	0.45	0.14	0.04	0.41	0.11

* the number of participants is lower compared to the overall sample. Individuals were members of 518 family units. **Bold**: *p* value still significant after Bonferroni correction.

4. Discussion

This cross-study comparison used family-based data collected in the US and in Switzerland over a timeframe of more than 10 years to examine genetic literacy in individuals who had counselling for HBOC and their relatives who did not, and factors influencing genetic literacy both at the individual and at the family level. Genetic literacy was higher among participants who had counselling, compared to those who did not. Our findings support the role of genetic counseling in improving genetic literacy [1, 3, 18, 19, 28].

We identified specific risk factors and signs of HBOC that remain unclear, even to individuals who had a genetic consultation. Despite being important red flags for HBOC, early age of cancer onset, breast cancer in male relatives, and having Ashkenazi Jewish ancestry were not recognized as risk factors for most individuals. Genetic consultations provide personalized information and likely focus on individual risk factors. Thus, some of the above risk factors may not have been emphasized equally in all consultations, which may explain our findings. Nevertheless, HBOC cases need to be vigilant in identifying red flags in their family history since a new cancer diagnosis among relatives may provide important information that could change their own plans of managing hereditary cancer risk. Those who test negative (uninformative result) and those who do not qualify for testing are encouraged to periodically contact the genetic testing center and re-evaluate their status. Given the lifelong consequences of carrying an HBOCassociated pathogenic variant, periodic "check-ins" with genetic specialists can clarify important information and reassess cancer risk management plans.

Important risk factors, such as having a family history of ovarian cancer and a family history of breast cancer from the paternal side of the family were less frequently identified among individuals who did not have genetic counselling. This finding further highlights gaps in the dissemination of genetic information to at-risk individuals that have been reported over a period of 20 years [6, 7, 29–31]. Individuals who are unsure about how and from whom HBOC-associated pathogenic variants can be inherited are more likely to overlook their hereditary cancer risk if affected relatives are on the paternal side of the family. One possible explanation for this persistent finding may be related to unbalanced presentations of HBOC from mass media [32, 33]. However, in light of the rapid evolution in cancer genetics, tracking changes in genetic literacy is extremely important. As knowledge continues to expand and educational materials are developed and made available to at-risk individuals and the lay public, the healthcare community needs to address these persistent knowledge gaps.

Consistent with studies that examined genetic literacy in the general population [3, 6, 8, 9], participants who were younger, self-identified as White, had higher education, and a personal and/or a family history of cancer were more likely to know about risk factors and to feel better informed about cancer genetics. It is difficult to disentangle the effects of counselling from the experiential knowledge gained from a personal and/or a family history of cancer on genetic literacy. Our data show that having a consultation less than five years ago was associated with both higher knowledge of cancer genetics and higher genetic affinity, while time since a personal cancer diagnosis did not influence genetic

25

literacy. These findings mean that the genetic consultation likely provides understandable and actionable information beyond the information that is discussed in the context of a personal cancer diagnosis [1, 3, 18, 19, 28].

Cascade testing for Tier 1 genetic conditions, such as HBOC, relies on assumptions of open family communication and effective dissemination of genetic information within members of family units. However, it is unclear if this communication strategy can ensure effective and accurate information transmission. We explored communication of genetic information within family units using sensitivity analysis, including only families with a member who received counseling and one or more at-risk relative who did not. By adding the random intercept term for each specific family unit into our modelling, unmeasured confounders, like level of family communication and information sharing between counselled and not counselled individuals, were controlled at that level. Interestingly, after adding family unit as a level in the analysis, genetic counselling was still significantly associated with knowledge of cancer genetics and with genetic affinity. Variance partition coefficients of sensitivity analyses showed that 6-7% of overall variation in objective knowledge and genetic affinity were explained by family clustering. If genetic information was openly and accurately shared from individuals who had counselling to their relatives, the variation in genetic literacy in members from different family units would have been observed more easily compared to the variation between members of random family units. This further implies that tailored educational interventions aiming to promote cascade testing should consider the characteristics of the family unit in addition to characteristics of the different individuals.

Using datasets from three studies could introduce a bias in the cross-study comparisons due to heterogeneity among the primary studies. In our case, the three primary studies had comparable aims and recruitment methods, which controlled for such bias and made comparisons feasible. Since participants from minority ethnic and racial groups had significantly lower levels of genetic literacy, our findings point to the widening gap of disparities in healthcare brought upon the clinical application of genetics [34–36]. However, participants from different ethnic and racial minority groups were very heterogeneous among the US and the Swiss-based samples, and were recruited primarily from one study. Thus, our findings are likely not applicable to non-White/Caucasian individuals and families, but without any inference to specific ethnic and racial minority groups. The Swiss sample was smaller, which may have also influenced findings regarding the impact of country and year of study on genetic literacy. HBOC status could only be ascertained for clinic-based samples. Finally, for the sensitivity analyses, we removed individuals without any relatives, which may have led to insufficient sample size.

5. Conclusions

Our cross-study comparison demonstrated the need for increased access to genetic information among at-risk individuals and that the lay public needs more assistance from healthcare professionals to understand complex genetic information and use it to inform plans for cancer risk management [37, 38]. Our findings highlighted the role of counselling in improving genetic literacy and demonstrated persistent knowledge gaps and misconceptions, and that important red flags for HBOC remain poorly under-stood. Continued follow-up with genetic services could clarify and reinforce information that is overlooked or not well-understood. Addressing persistent knowledge gaps about aspects of HBOC, and racial and ethnic disparities in genetic care, should be priority public health goals. Efforts to improve family communication of genetic information should be enhanced with interventions at the clinical (support to carriers of pathogenic variants),

legal (healthcare providers ability to provide tailored assistance with family communication) and public health (policies to improve access to genetic services) levels [14, 39, 40].

References

Hurle, B.; Citrin, T.; Jenkins, J.F.; Kaphingst, K.A.; Lamb, N.; Roseman, J.E.; Bonham,
 V.L. What does it mean to be genomically literate?: National Human Genome Research
 Institute Meeting Report. Genet. Med. 2013, 15, 658–663,
 https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2013.14.

 Boerwinkel, D.J.; Yarden, A.; Waarlo, A.J. Reaching a Consensus on the Definition of Genetic Literacy that Is Required from a Twenty-First-Century Citizen. Sci. Educ. 2017, 26, 1087–1114, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-017-9934-y.

3. Lea, D.; Kaphingst, K.; Bowen, D.; Lipkus, I.; Hadley, D. Communicating Genetic and Genomic Information: Health Literacy and Numeracy Considerations. Public Heal. Genom. 2011, 14, 279–289, https://doi.org/10.1159/000294191.

4. Smerecnik, C.M.; Mesters, I.; de Vries, N.K.; de Vries, H. Educating the general public about multifactorial genetic disease: ap-plying a theory-based framework to understand current public knowledge. Genet. Med. 2008, 10, 251–258, https://doi.org/10.1097/gim.0b013e31816b4ffd.

5. Syurina, E.; Brankovic, I.; Probst-Hensch, N.; Brand, A. Genome-Based Health Literacy: A New Challenge for Public Health Genomics. Public Heal. Genom. 2011, 14, 201–210, https://doi.org/10.1159/000324238.

6. Krakow, M.; Ratcliff, C.; Hesse, B.W.; Greenberg-Worisek, A.J. Assessing Genetic Literacy Awareness and Knowledge Gaps in the US Population: Results from the Health

Information National Trends Survey. Public Heal. Genom. 2017, 20, 343–348, https://doi.org/10.1159/000489117.

7. Chapman, R.; Likhanov, M.; Selita, F.; Zakharov, I.; Smith-Woolley, E.; Kovas, Y. New literacy challenge for the twenty-first century: genetic knowledge is poor even among well educated. J. Community Genet. 2018, 10, 73–84, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12687-018-0363-7.

 Kaphingst, K.A.; Blanchard, M.; Milam, L.; Pokharel, M.; Elrick, A.; Goodman, M.
 Relationships Between Health Literacy and Genomics-Related Knowledge, Self-Efficacy, Perceived Importance, and Communication in a Medically Underserved
 Popula-tion. J. Heal. Commun. 2016, 21, 58–68, https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2016.1144661.

9. Haga, S.B.; Barry, W.T.; Mills, R.; Ginsburg, G.S.; Svetkey, L.; Sullivan, J.; Willard,
H.F. Public Knowledge of and Attitudes To-ward Genetics and Genetic Testing. Genet.
Test. Mol. Biomarkers 2013, 17, 327–335, https://doi.org/10.1089/gtmb.2012.0350.

10. Tilburt, J.C.; James, K.M.; Sinicrope, P.S.; Eton, D.T.; A Costello, B.; Carey, J.; A Lane, M.; Ehlers, S.L.; Erwin, P.J.; E Nowakowski, K.; et al. Factors Influencing Cancer Risk Perception in High Risk Populations: A Systematic Review. Hered. Cancer Clin. Pr. 2011, 9, 2–15, https://doi.org/10.1186/1897-4287-9-2.

11. Khoury, M.J.; Evans, J.P. A Public Health Perspective on a National Precision Medicine Cohort. JAMA 2015, 313, 2117–2118, https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.3382.

12. Christinat, A.; Pagani, O. Practical aspects of genetic counseling in breast cancer: Lights and shadows. Breast 2013, 22, 375–382, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2013.04.006.

29
13. Kuchenbaecker, K.B.; Hopper, J.L.; Barnes, D.R.; Phillips, K.-A.; Mooij, T.M.; Roos-Blom, M.-J.; Jervis, S.; Van Leeuwen, F.E.; Milne, R.L.; Andrieu, N.; et al. Risks of Breast, Ovarian, and Contralateral Breast Cancer for BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers. JAMA 2017, 317, 2402–2416, doi:10.1001/jama.2017.7112.

14. Roberts, M.C.; Dotson, W.D.; DeVore, C.S.; Bednar, E.; Bowen, D.J.; Ganiats, T.G.; Green, R.F.; Hurst, G.M.; Philp, A.R.; Ricker, C.; et al. Delivery Of Cascade Screening For Hereditary Conditions: A Scoping Review Of The Literature. Heal. Aff. 2018, 37, 801–808, https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1630.

15. Schwiter, R.; Rahm, A.K.; Williams, J.L.; Sturm, A.C. How Can We Reach At-Risk Relatives? Efforts to Enhance Communica-tion and Cascade Testing Uptake: a Mini-Review. Curr. Genet. Med. Rep. 2018, 6, 21–27, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40142-018-0134-0.

 Forrest, L.E.; Burke, J.; Bacic, S.; Amor, D.J. Increased genetic counseling support improves communication of genetic infor-mation in families. Genet. Med. 2008, 10, 167– 172, https://doi.org/10.1097/gim.0b013e318164540b.

17. Hodgson, J.; Metcalfe, S.; Gaff, C.; Donath, S.; Delatycki, M.B.; Winship, I.; Skene,
L.; Aitken, M.; Halliday, J. Outcomes of a randomised controlled trial of a complex genetic counselling intervention to improve family communication. Eur. J. Hum. Genet.
2015, 24, 356–360, https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2015.122.

 Himes, D.O.; Davis, S.H.; Lassetter, J.H.; Peterson, N.E.; Clayton, M.; Birmingham,
 W.C.; Kinney, A. Does family communica-tion matter? Exploring knowledge of breast cancer genetics in cancer families. J. Community Genet. 2019, 10, 481–487, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12687-019-00413-y. 19. Himes, D.O.; Clayton, M.; Donaldson, G.W.; Ellington, L.; Buys, S.S.; Kinney, A. Breast Cancer Risk Perceptions among Rela-tives of Women with Uninformative Negative BRCA1/2 Test Results: The Moderating Effect of the Amount of Shared Information. J. Genet. Couns. 2015, 25, 258–269, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-015-9866-0.

20. Ormond, K.E.; Laurino, M.Y.; Barlow-Stewart, K.; Wessels, T.; Macaulay, S.; Austin, J.; Middleton, A. Genetic counseling glob-ally: Where are we now?. Am. J. Med Genet. Part C: Semin. Med Genet. 2018, 178, 98–107, https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.c.31607.

21. Katapodi, M.C.; Northouse, L.L.; Milliron, K.J.; Liu, G.; Merajver, S.D. Individual and family characteristics associated with BRCA1/2 genetic testing in high-risk families. Psycho-Oncology 2012, 22, 1336–1343, https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3139.

22. Katapodi, M.C.; Duquette, D.; Yang, J.J.; Mendelsohn-Victor, K.; Anderson, B.; Nikolaidis, C.; Mancewicz, E.; Northouse, L.; Duffy, S.; Ronis, D.; et al. Recruiting families at risk for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer from a statewide cancer registry: a methodological study. Cancer Causes Control. 2017, 28, 191–201, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-017-0858-2.

23. Katapodi, M.C.; Viassolo, V.; Caiata-Zufferey, M.; Nikolaidis, C.; Bührer-Landolt, R.; Buerki, N.; Graffeo, R.; Horváth, H.C.; Kurzeder, C.; Rabaglio, M.; et al. Cancer Predisposition Cascade Screening for Hereditary Breast/Ovarian Cancer and Lynch Syndromes in Switzerland: Study Protocol. JMIR Res. Protoc. 2017, 6, e184, https://doi.org/10.2196/resprot.8138.

24. Dar-Nimrod, I.; MacNevin, G.; Godwin, A.; Lynch, K.; Cohen, T.M.; Ganesan, A.; Morandini, J. Genetic Knowledge within a National Australian Sample: Comparisons with Other Diverse Populations. Public Heal. Genom. 2018, 21, 133–143, https://doi.org/10.1159/000496381.

25. Katapodi, M.C.; Northouse, L.L.; Schafenacker, A.M.; Duquette, D.; Duffy, S.A.; Ronis, D.L.; Anderson, B.; Janz, N.K.; McLosky, J.; Milliron, K.J.; et al. Using a state cancer registry to recruit young breast cancer survivors and high-risk relatives: protocol of a randomized trial testing the efficacy of a targeted versus a tailored intervention to increase breast cancer screening. BMC Cancer 2013, 13, 97, doi:10.1186/1471-2407-13-97.

26. Mariotto, A.B.; Noone, A.-M.; Howlader, N.; Cho, H.; Keel, G.E.; Garshell, J.; Woloshin, S.; Schwartz, L.M. Cancer Survival: An Overview of Measures, Uses, and Interpretation. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. Monogr. 2014, 2014, 145–186, https://doi.org/10.1093/jncimonographs/lgu024.

27. Team, R.C. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing; R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2015. Available online: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed on 7 June 2013).

Schmidlen, T.J.; Scheinfeldt, L.B.; Zhaoyang, R.; Kasper, R.; Sweet, K.; Gordon,
 E.S.; A Keller, M.; Stack, C.; Gharani, N.; Daly, M.B.; et al. Genetic Knowledge Among
 Participants in the Coriell Personalized Medicine Collaborative. J. Genet. Couns. 2015,
 25, 385–394, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10897-015-9883-z.

29. Miesfeldt, S.; Cohn, W.; Ropka, M.; Jones, S. Knowledge about breast cancer risk factors and hereditary breast cancer among early-onset breast cancer survivors.. Fam. Cancer 2001, 1, 135–141, https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1021189128084.

30. Vuckovic, N.; Harris, E.L.; Valanis, B.; Stewart, B. Consumer knowledge and opinions of genetic testing for breast cancer risk. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 2003, 189, S48–S53, https://doi.org/10.1067/s0002-9378(03)01080-9.

31. Hesse-Biber, S.; Dwyer, A.A.; Yi, S. Parent of origin differences in psychosocial burden and approach to BRCA risk manage-ment. Breast J. 2020, 26, 734–738, https://doi.org/10.1111/tbj.13633.

32. Gottlieb, N. The Age of Breast Cancer Awareness: What Is the Effect of Media Coverage?. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2001, 93, 1520–1522, https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/93.20.1520.

33. Sabel, M.S.; Cin, S.D. Trends in Media Reports of Celebrities' Breast Cancer
Treatment Decisions. Ann. Surg. Oncol. 2016, 23, 2795–2801,
https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5202-7.

34. Nikolaidis, C.; Duquette, D.; Mendelsohn-Victor, K.E.; Anderson, B.; Copeland, G.; Milliron, K.J.; Merajver, S.D.; Janz, N.K.; Northouse, L.L.; Duffy, S.A.; et al. Disparities in genetic services utilization in a random sample of young breast cancer sur-vivors. Genet. Med. 2019, 21, 1363–1370, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41436-018-0349-1.

35. Cragun, D.; Weidner, A.; Lewis, C.; Bonner, D.; Kim, J.; Vadaparampil, S.T.; Pal, T. Racial disparities inBRCAtesting and can-cer risk management across a population-based sample of young breast cancer survivors. Cancer 2017, 123, 2497–2505, https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30621.

36. Conley, C.C.; Ketcher, D.; Reblin, M.; Kasting, M.L.; Cragun, D.; Kim, J.; Ashing, K.T.; Knott, C.L.; Hughes-Halbert, C.; Pal, T.; et al. The big reveal: Family disclosure patterns of BRCA genetic test results among young Black women with invasive breast cancer. J. Genet. Couns. 2020, 29, 410–422, https://doi.org/10.1002/jgc4.1196.

33

37. Kosenko, K.A.; Binder, A.; Hurley, R. Celebrity Influence and Identification: A Test of the Angelina Effect. J. Heal. Commun. 2016, 21, 318–326, https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2015.1064498.

38. Borzekowski, D.L.; Guan, Y.; Smith, K.C.; Erby, L.H.; Roter, D.L. The Angelina effect: immediate reach, grasp, and impact of going public. Genet. Med. 2014, 16, 516–521, https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2013.181.

39. Force, U.P.S.T.; Owens, D.K.; Davidson, K.; Krist, A.H.; Barry, M.J.; Cabana, M.; Caughey, A.B.; Doubeni, C.A.; Epling, J.W.; Kubik, M.; et al. Risk Assessment, Genetic Counseling, and Genetic Testing for BRCA-Related Cancer. JAMA 2019, 322, 652–665, https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.10987.

40. Baroutsou, V.; Underhill-Blazey, M.; Appenzeller-Herzog, C.; Katapodi, M. Interventions Facilitating Family Communication of Genetic Testing Results and Cascade Screening in Hereditary Breast/Ovarian Cancer or Lynch Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cancers 2021, 13, 925, https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13040925.

CHAPTER 3 – SECOND ARTICLE

Defining The Communication Chain Of Genetic Risk: An Analysis Of Narrative Data Exploring Proband-Provider And Proband-Family Communication In Hereditary Breast And Ovarian Cancer

Authors: Carla Pedrazzani, Monica Aceti, Reka Schweighoffer, Andrea Kaiser– Grolimund, Nicole Bürki, Pierre O. Chappuis, Rossella Graffeo-Galbiati, Christian Monnerat, Olivia Pagani, Manuela Rabaglio, Maria C. Katapodi and Maria Caiata-Zufferey

<u>Published in</u>: Journal of personalized medicine, 12(8), 1249. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm12081249

Abstract: Low uptake of genetic services among members of families with hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC) suggests limitations of proband-mediated communication of genetic risk. The aim of this descriptive cross-sectional study is to explore from the probands' perspective, the communication chain, namely how genetic information proceeds from healthcare-providers to probands and from probands to relatives. Following Grounded Theory, we analysed narrative data collected with individual interviews and focus groups from a sample of 48 HBOC women from three linguistic regions of Switzerland.

In healthcare providers-probands communication, data highlight a three level-complexity in the way information about family communication is approached by the providers, received by the probands and followed-up by the health-care system. In the probands' decision-making regarding family communication, data show dynamic and often contradictory logics interconnected with individual and family characteristics which lead to a high level of complexity in the arbitrating process.

The study confirms the difficulties of proband-mediated communication but highlights the active role that probands wish in the communication process to their relatives. This suggests the need to support probands in navigating the complexity of family communication rather than replacing them in their role as communicators. Concrete actions, both at the clinical and health-system level, are needed to improve probandmediated communication.

1. Introduction

Communication of genetic risk among members of families with hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC) is essential to manage their potential cancer risk through genetic services. In Switzerland, as well as in many other countries, due to privacy laws, risk communication is proband-mediated, meaning that the individual identified with the pathogenic variant has the responsibility to share genetic test results and their implications to at-risk relatives, and advocate for cascade testing [1-2]. However, uptake of genetic services and cascade testing among at-risk relatives remains lower than 50%, suggesting that this approach has significant limitations in both ensuring contact with the appropriate individuals and the transmission of accurate information [3-5]. An extensive body of literature confirms that communication of genetic risk to relatives is a difficult and complex process, affected by interconnected individual and family characteristics e.g., disease risk and severity, level of psychological adaptation, motivation, proximity and quality of the relationship, family past experience with cancer, family rules and patterns, etc. [6-14]. Probands usually acknowledge their responsibility to inform relatives, but this

responsibility may be experienced as a burden and a dilemma with sentiments of guilt, fear, and frustration, which adds to probands' burden associate with a possible cancer diagnosis [15-16]. As a result, there may be a failure to inform relatives despite intentions to share genetic test results, the information may be inappropriate or delayed, or in some cases communicating information to the family may be deliberately withheld [17-19].

To address the issue of poor communication of genetic test results, thus alleviating probands' burden of notifying at-risk relatives and increasing the accuracy and efficiency of information-sharing, more active approaches are being considered, e.g., provider direct contact to relatives, proband- or family- mediated contact with assistance from a healthcare provider, etc. [3, 6, 20-22]. Provider-mediated approaches to inform at-risk relatives seem to be more effective [3, 6, 20, 23] but have to consider major ethical and legal implications, and to comply with local legislation and with probands' and relatives' preferences about contact modalities [2-3, 6, 21, 24]. Additionally, also in more active approaches to inform at-risk relatives, involvement of probands remains fundamental e.g., consent to contact relatives, providing contact information, etc. [6, 21].

Healthcare providers play an important role in supporting probands' communication even in proband-mediated approaches [18, 20, 25-26]. Although international guidelines recommend providing active support to probands for family communication [3, 20, 22, 25], in clinical practice, however, facilitating probands' discussions within families is complex, challenging, and still limited [3, 25, 27]. Concrete difficulties may contribute to this complexity, e.g., lack of information about distant relatives, lack of clarity on the side of the family that harbors the pathogenic variant, and ethical and professional dilemmas about respect for patients' autonomy and duty to warn [3, 25, 27]. Strategies used by providers to address family communication are mainly focused on information content, often delivered without continuity, or delivered as part of research interventions rather than routine clinical practice [20].

In the context of the current debate about proband-mediated versus provider-mediated strategies for informing at-risk relatives, proband-mediated communication needs to be better understood. Thus, this study aims to clarify the process of communicating genetic risk to relatives, based on the assumption that this is an ongoing process, and that there is a communication chain along which information about genetic risk proceeds from healthcare providers to carriers of pathogenic variants, and from carriers to relatives.

Based on this hypothesis, the study's objectives are to explore:

how healthcare providers address family communication of genetic risk with probands
 how probands decide to communicate genetic risk to relatives

3) how healthcare providers communication with probands may affect probands' decision to communicate genetic risk to relatives

Our study aims to understand, specifically from the probands' point of view, the way they manage the process of communicating genetic risk. This process begins the moment in which they receive the information about the pathogenic variant from their healthcare provider, to the moment in which they decide to transmit this information or not transmit it to relatives. Findings will thus help clarify the role of the proband and the role of the healthcare provider in proband-mediated communication.

2. Methods

This descriptive cross-sectional study used individual interviews and focus groups to collect narrative data from a sample of HBOC cases. Participants were recruited from the

CASCADE study, an open-ended cohort designed to elicit factors that enhance cascade genetic screening for HBOC and Lynch Syndrome (LS) in Switzerland (NCT03124212) [24]. Confirmed carriers of HBOC- or LS-associated pathogenic variants who are 18 years or older are recruited from cantonal hospitals and university centres in three linguistic regions of Switzerland. Details about eligibility criteria and recruitment procedures have been published [28]. The study, including the collection of narrative data, has been approved by appropriate ethics committees (BASEC 2016-02052).

Collection of narrative data took place between April 2019 and November 2021. Potential participants were identified among probands who were willing to provide narrative data. Initially, the research team planned to conduct a series of focus groups [29]. However, some participants expressed their preference towards individual interviews. Moreover, the organization of focus groups with compatible individuals was difficult due to the low numbers of participants in some centres, the geographical distance among centres from similar linguistic regions, and eventually the Covid-19 pandemic. Consequently, the research team decided on a pragmatic data collection, oriented by the emerging results (theoretical sampling) and in order to diversify the sample in terms of clinical history (affected by cancer or cancer-free), linguistic area (German, French, Italian), and age (\leq 39, 40-49, 50-59, \geq 60). Data collection included both focus groups and interviews that were conducted either face-to-face or online. The research team developed strategies to ensure data quality and comparability, paying attention to the advantages of each technique, as well as facing the challenges of online data collection on sensitive topics [30].

Interviews and focus groups were conducted by four members of the research team experienced in qualitative research and fluent in the language of conduction. The data collection guide was developed in English to support a common approach and then was translated in German, French, and Italian. The data collection guide asked participants to reflect on how healthcare providers addressed disclosure of genetic risk to relatives; how they acted upon and experienced family communication (decision and disclosure or not disclosure); and how they perceived that communication with healthcare providers affected their own communication with relatives. Data collection and analysis were conducted simultaneously until data saturation occurred (iterativity). Throughout the period of data collection, the research team adapted the guide according to the mode of data collection (focus groups versus interviews, face-to-face versus online) and modified it according to emerging themes. Interviews and focus groups were audio- or video-recorded and transcribed verbatim. Pseudonyms were given to participants.

Data analyses were conducted by the four interviewers and two senior researchers based on premises of Grounded Theory [31]. Each interviewer was responsible for making a first analysis of their own collected data. The analysis started by reading the transcripts multiple times to familiarize with the content and to identify meaningful quotes. Data were continuously compared to form categories and to find relationships among concepts (analysis through constant comparison). Each interviewer inductively coded the data, linked the codes and grouped them into larger categories and concepts, and organized them into different topics. Prominent themes of each interview or focus group discussions were stressed and contrasted with those of other interviews or discussions. Regular meetings regarding emerging patterns were held to ensure analytical validity. Disagreements in interpretation were addressed through discussion and by making constant references to the transcripts in order to develop a reasonable representation of the studied phenomenon. A transversal analysis was proposed on a regular basis by one member of the research team, to develop a more general understanding of the studied phenomenon. Once data saturation was achieved [31], the research team consensually developed a detailed codebook in English. Each researcher was then in charge of recoding their own data following the codebook, identifying meaningful quotes, and translating them in English. Members of the research team provided feedback and checked the relevance and the validity of the developed argumentation and of the selected quotations.

3. Results

The following analyses are based on narrative data collected from 48 participants, of whom 20 participated in individual semi-structured interviews and the remaining 28 participated in 11 focus groups. Initial data collection for 7 interviews and 2 focus groups took place face-to-face, at participants' home or in a university room, while the remaining 13 interviews and 9 focus groups took place online.

Table 1 shows the socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample.

Characteristics	N=48 (%)		
Gender			
Female	48 (100)		
Age – mean (SD)	51.8 (10.9)		
<i>≤</i> 39	6 (12.5)		
>39 <u><</u> 49	16 (33.3)		
>49≤59	12 (25)		
>59	14 (29.2)		
Marital status			
Married/Partenered	37 (77.1)		
Single	3 (6.25)		
Divorced/Separated	6 (12.5)		
Widowed	1 (2.1)		
Education			
\leq High school/Technical school	14 (29.2)		
Some college/Complete college	14 (29.2)		
University/Post-graduate degree	19 (39.6)		
Cancer diagnosis			
Yes	29 (60.4)		
Years from genetic testing - mean (SD)			
	7.2 (5.1)		

 Table 1: Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample

Linguistic region	
French	27 (56.3)
German	14 (29.2)
Italian	7 (14.6)

All participants were female, with mean age 51.8 years old, and on average 7 years post genetic testing. The majority were married or partnered and had at least some college education. Approximately two out of three participants had one or more previous cancer diagnoses, and provided an interview in French.

Communication between healthcare providers and probands: The challenge of discussing family communication

The first step of the communication chain, which is supposed to bring the genetic information from healthcare providers to relatives, takes place during the post-testing genetic consultation. At that moment probands become aware that they have been identified as carrying a pathogenic variant, that the genetic predisposition involves their relatives, and that there is a need to inform them. Participants' experiences highlighted how discussions about family communication with healthcare providers during genetic counselling were different and challenging. Data show variability and complexity at different levels of this phase, particularly in the way the need for family communication was broached by healthcare providers, was received by probands, and was followed-up by the healthcare system. Table 2 provides quotes identified in narrative data to support findings about communication between healthcare providers and probands.

Variability in the approach to family communication

Participants' experiences about how the need for family communication was addressed by healthcare providers were rather different and multifaceted. About half of the sample perceived that the topic of family communication was approached in a rather superficial, hasty, and abstract manner. Accordingly, the discussion did not have any concrete effect and left them feeling "alone" in the duty to inform relatives. Details, such as information about whom to inform and whom not, were frequently missing and if they were addressed, the information was not always so clear (quotes 1 and 2). One participant mentioned that she would have preferred more incisive instructions, leaving no room for uncertainty or doubts, and a more active and direct role of healthcare providers in supporting her in the communication process (quote 3). Other experiences were more positive with the perception of a good and exhaustive discussion on family communication and a positive and helpful attitude from healthcare providers (quote 4). Concrete interventions, such as a letter received by some participants to distribute to all family members, were also considered very helpful to make communication easier and more effective (quote 5). This variability of experiences highlights that there was no common approach in addressing family communication. Thus, it appears that the discussion on family communication was guided by healthcare providers' individual sensitivity and interpretation of the situation.

Difficulty in receiving information about family communication

Often participants did not remember whether healthcare providers discussed about family communication during genetic counselling or they have a vague memory of it. This may be due to the amount of information given during the consultation and the particularity of the moment in which genetic counselling occurred. In some cases, participants recognize that their psychological state, due to the situation they were facing, influenced the level of attention and understanding during the counselling (quote 6). Genetic counselling frequently took place when priorities and needs were not focused on communicating genetic risk to others. In the case of women affected by cancer in particular, the consultation tended to focus on management of the disease in light of its genetic nature. Healthcare providers and probands were thus somehow swayed away from the issue of family communication (quote 7). Even in the case of unaffected women, worries about the pathogenic variant and about decisions for risk management took precedence over the urgency to address the issue of family communication (quote 8). Therefore, both the particularity of the situation and participants' choices to give priority to other aspects during genetic counselling seem frequently to put the issue of family communication on "the back burner".

Inconsistency in the follow-up of the issue of family communication

Since priorities and needs may change along probands' trajectory of life and illness, the possibility to discuss again about communication of genetic risk with healthcare providers is crucial (quote 9). Given the amount of information provided during genetic counselling, the possibility of asking questions about issues which are not clear or are poorly remembered helps probands clarify their own doubts and provide more accurate information to relatives (quote 10). Participants highlighted how, over time, new needs and new questions arise due to changes in their own situation, however, they do not have the opportunity to discuss again the topic of family communication with healthcare providers (quote 11). In most cases, neither the genetic healthcare provider nor other providers (GP or specialist) addressed the topic of family communication after the posttesting consultation. In the rare events that this happened, there was no coordination among providers from different specialties (quote 12). Theoretically, participants had the possibility to contact the genetic healthcare provider at a later point, however, most women found it difficult to take this initiative. Some of them looked for information

elsewhere, with the risk to experience even more inconsistency in the way family communication was addressed (quote 13).

Themes	Quotes	Supporting quotes	
Variability in	1	"In the department they told me: "You have to communicate with	
the approach		your family". But it was a bit abstract. I mean, I would have	
to family		left from there and I might have done nothing too" (Anna, 48	
communication		y.o., affected)	
	2	"Actually the communication to the family was delegated to me.	
		() Perhaps it was implied, they spoke more in the feminine, then	
		for the offspring, they spoke in the masculine. () This thought	
		made me think that there was no need to tell to my uncles. I	
		understood so but then it is the perception.". (Carla, 48 y.o.,	
		affected)	
	3	"No. that communication on her side (the genetic counsellor) was	
	C	iust too soft. And that applies to the family clarification as well.	
		exactly the same. It shouldn't be "it would be best to inform your	
		relatives", but: "We request you to clarify your family status."	
		Clearly and unambiguously described. Not "you could". But: "Go	
		there! Do it!" (Ms. P., 52 y.o, not affected)	
	4	"(The physician) was absolutely available afterwards. I didn't	
		feel the need to see him again. Anyway, he's a great person, I	
		really found him to be totally adequate". (Katarina, 33 y.o.,	
		unaffected)	
	5	"I received a letter from the hospital explaining what it was and	
		that I could possibly have the gene mutation and that I should	
		contact Dr And that's what we did, together with the sister.	
		Afterwards we had all the genetic meetings with her. She (the	
		physician) explained it very well. So, for me it was never the case	
		that I was somehow all alone and badly informed." (Rose, 50 y.o,	
		unaffected)	
Difficulty in	6	"The oncologist, I can't tell you right now if she's been talking to	
the reception		me about the mutation running in the family, I don't know. ()	
of information		When I was with her for the first time, I wasn't doing so well	
about family		psychologically". (Antonia, 33 y.o., not affected).	
communication	7	"Because of the speed with which everything happened, it (the	
		topic of family communication) was touched on but not explored.	
		It was said that there was a possibility to communicate to the boys	
		and close family members, as there was heredity. This was	

 Table 2: Communication between healthcare providers and probands

		communicated. () It was probably enough at that moment.		
		Because you're in a situation of turmoil () Maybe it would have		
		been different, if illness happened afterwards", (Carla, 48 v.o.,		
		affected)		
	8	"So, for me the shock of finding out that I had this mutation was		
		even greater than finding out to have a cancer. I did the test. and		
		I got the results. It was terrible for me because it meant that I		
		could have passed on this mutation to my daughter. and I felt		
		guilt". (Luise, 45 y.o., unaffected)		
Inconsistency	9	"I'm really starting to get into it (communication to children) now.		
in the follow		Before I was more about saving my own skin, that's done, for now		
up of family		anyway, and now I want to save my kids." (Mari, 42 y.o., affected)		
communication	10	"No, let's say they gave me a lot of information all at once at the		
		beginning, so understanding and remembering everything was a		
		bit of a struggle. () So, I remembered this thing, I told them		
		(family members), but I didn't remember it specifically. Today I		
		came, I spoke again about this thing here (with the physician)		
		because I had not well understood it () I could resume some		
		aspects that I had not understood, because it is not obvious on so		
		many things to understand them all obviously". (Sabina, 52 y.o,		
		unaffected).		
	11	"He (the physician) did talk to me about all of this, but it was		
		rather at the beginning. So sometimes I think it would have been		
		necessary to take up the subject again later on. Because I was just		
		informed by him once I had gotten the result, and I didn't really		
		have any questions until later". (Gisela, 46 y.o., unaffected)		
	12	"It was mainly the genetist who encouraged me to talk to the		
		family. Then when I went back to my gynaecologist, he asked me		
		if I had other family members, how they had taken it. Just out of		
		interest. Butmore than out of medical concern." (Christine, 47		
		y.o., unaffected)		
	13	"I might have been able to go to him again, but somehow I looked		
		for (information) then in other places" (Gisela, 46 y.o.,		
		unaffected)		

Probands' decision-making regarding family communication: Multiple logics of action

The second step in the communication chain involves patients' decision to communicate genetic information to relatives. This decision does not take place in a single moment and it is not linear. Different logics seem to come into play and guide the decision to

communicate or not, the way, and the time to do it. These principles of action help in understanding communication or lack of communication. They are linked with the proband's rationality, values, norms or beliefs; they may be more or less explicit, contradictory, and they may come into play simultaneously, making the decision process complex and difficult to interpret. Our data show four main logics of action as the base of the decision to communicate genetic information to relatives or not and the way to do it. Table 3 provides quotes identified in narrative data to support findings about probands' decision-making regarding family communication.

Responsibility

Discovering a pathogenic variant immediately allocates to the individual the burden of communication with relatives. Indeed, there is a sort of "normative" pressure that encourages the individual to consider communicating genetic risk to relatives. The majority of participants feel responsible of informing others and making them aware about their possible genetic risk. Communication of genetic information appears as a "due act", something necessary to do despite the difficulties it may imply (quotes 14 and 15). The sense of responsibility seems particularly prominent with close relatives, when there is emotional proximity. This leads to prompt and more insistent information, even if this is often more difficult due to the level of personal involvement (quotes 16 and 17). For some participants this sense of responsibility is also directed towards distant relatives, and even the general population to increase dissemination of genetic information among the lay public. For these persons transmission of genetic information is crucial due to their highly developed sense of civic duty (quotes 18 and 19). In many situations, the family and personal experiences reinforce this sense of responsibility. This is particularly the case when there is a sense of efficacy of the genetic testing or when there is personal or

family illness, which emphasise the importance of making others aware of the genetic risk as soon as possible, putting them under pressure to make a decision (quote 20). Healthcare professionals may also reinforce the sense of duty to inform relatives. In some cases, the healthcare provider convinced participants to take concrete actions in passing on the genetic information to relatives (quote 21).

Self-Preservation

Communicating the presence of a pathogenic variant to relatives inevitably implies a process of self-disclosure: individuals not only communicate that the variant is running in the family, but they also convey information that they do not necessarily would like to transmit, such as their clinical condition, and also their fears, wishes, emotional experiences, frailties, etc. It is extremely difficult, if not impossible, to control the flow of information when communicating genetic risk. It is thus possible that one tries to avoid possible discomfort and disadvantages arising from this communication process. Some do not feel comfortable talking about genetic risk, or even perceive this process as harmful for themselves. This was especially true for women affected by cancer, where being sick was considered a private issue and sharing was not anodyne (quotes 22 and 23). According to the logic of self-preservation, probands can decide to inform others about their possible genetic risk but only when they feel able and comfortable to do so. Some participants broached the topic of genetic risk with their relatives only after having finished cancer treatment and were more confident about their own illness (quote 24). This sense of self-preservation emerged particularly with distant relatives, when there is a geographical and emotional distance. Not knowing others' reactions or feeling that these reactions will be stressful and difficult to manage reinforce this logic (quote 25).

Protection of others

Receiving information about the possibility of carrying a pathogenic variant connected to cancer, is not a neutral event. Some probands may decide to protect relatives from possible negative effects of finding out about their potential cancer risk. This decision is based on the conviction that genetic risk information may create more problems than advantages to the relative, at least in particular moments. This is frequently due to the anticipation of the emotions and reactions of relatives, based on the interpretation of different factors, such as their personality traits, age, stage of life, or family dynamics. For instance, one may decide to postpone the transmission of genetic information because they consider their relative as particularly anxious or vulnerable (quotes 26 and 27) or because the relative goes through a difficult period of life. What is crucial, in this logic, is the interpretation of others seems particularly present with close relatives, when possible reactions to genetic information are better known and the desire not to cause harm is especially prominent (quote 29).

Respect of autonomy

Most participants stated that they wanted to respect the views of their relatives about genetic risk and consequently their autonomy. The right of privacy and intimacy and the eventual diversity of opinions is recognized and respected, i.e., one acknowledges that there may be good reasons for choosing not to be open to receiving genetic information, based on the conviction that everybody is a unique individual, and as such must be acknowledged (quotes 30 and 31). The respect of relatives' autonomy may lead to lack of communication about the genetic risk when the relative showed no interest in this topic,

or doing it in a very superficial way and without going back to it later. This is true when one assumes that the relative has a high level of health literacy and thus, does not need further information (quote 32). The logic of respecting others' autonomy is supported by the value attributed to the free-will of the other and it is mitigated by the sense of efficacy of the genetic testing or by a personal or family history of illness. Awareness of the burdensome nature of cancer and at the same time of the opportunity offered by genetic testing for prevention, tend to make it difficult to accept relatives' choice not to afford the topic of genetic risk (quote 33).

	Themes	Quotes	Supporting quotes	
	Responsibility	14	«Communication is a due act, in the sense that () it is right and	
			proper to talk about it. () I feel like I did the right thing. That I	
			communicated. () in my opinion this (communication to	
			relatives) is a right thing." (Sabina, 52 y.o, unaffected).	
		15	"I did my part. I explained to them (my relatives) what had	
			happened to me. What could possibly happen to them Or not.	
			hope it never happens to them. But I thought it was important to	
			communicate on the subject. () It has been a burden on me that	
			I mean it's not easy, to take the step, to do that, it's hyper personal	
			anyway" (Anna, 48 y.o, affected)	
		16	"Genetic risk is part of my life and our life. For me what was very	
			important was that my family knew about it. I have a sister who	
			tested positive () she's much younger than me, she's 13 years	
			younger, so she was tested a few years ago. So, for me it's very	
			important that she knew that there was this risk". (Perla, 50 y	
			unaffected).	
		17	"To the people you care about, you want to say it despite this	
			difficulty with a person that you know and that you care about, it	
			is more difficult to do because emotionally you are more taken (I	
			felt bad) for my sisters because they have children, they have nieces	
			and nephews, so the more people you care about, in my opinion,	
			the more difficult it is to say it." (Sabina, 52 y.o, unaffected).	
		18	"The responsibility in the family is so needed. That's not modern,	
			nowadays people are no longer responsible for the cousins,	
			grandparents, the widowed aunts, it's not like it used to be. This is	
			something (genetic risk) that I have to actively tell people, and I	
			think it's also something that should be emphasized by the	
ļ			authorities. This is a problem in our society." (Ms.P, 52 y.o., not	
			(affected)	

Table 3: Probands' decision-making regarding family communication

	19	"I almost felt a little responsible for bringing this to the public. ()	
		Simply when I got into a conversation with someone, I actually	
		communicated it openly because I think the more we know about it,	
		the better. And yes, the way we were actually badly informed, that	
		doesn't help anyone or anything." (Gisela, 46 y.o, unaffected)	
	20	"This is what I said to myself, I have this thing that is not good,	
		how can I make it useful? Communicating it as my mother did with	
		me, it came to my mind afterwards, as an information to have. Then	
		everyone has their own time, and maybe like me you do it in stages.	
		But it's important to give the information so that everyone can	
		decide what to do next. In a certain sense it's not pleasant, it's not	
		easy, it's not nice, but it's useful information to know in order to	
		make informed choices and not to say "if we had known about it	
		before" (Sonia, 34 y.o., unaffected).	
	21	"I saw the psychologist to help me deal with the situation. And then	
		she told me about it (communication), saying: "Now you have to	
		communicate, you have to talk about it" And so, it was she	
		whoconvinced me to do it." (Anna, 48 y.o, affected).	
Self-	22	«It's not that I go to take all the relatives and "You know I had	
preservation		this", I hang out with a lot of people but nobody knows about my	
-		illness." (Bruna. 67 y.o., affected)	
	23	<i>"It was difficult to communicate that I was ill. () So only my sister</i>	
		knew and I only decided to tell my parents when I got home. Also	
		because I spent 3-4 days crying all day long () It was clear that	
		I was ill but I didn't I didn't say it because I was mad as hell,	
		honestly, I was mad at the world. I didn't want to say it out loud	
		it became reality even if it was reality. () The looks of pity as if I	
		were going to die at any moment. I won't say maybe because of	
		those looks I never said it." (Fiona, 32 y.o., affected).	
	24	"After my chemo (I wrote to my relatives). It was not possible	
		before, I was so weak that it was not possible. But I did it maybe a	
		year and a half after the cancer was discovered When I started	
		to get better " (Anna, 48 y.o., affected)	
	25	"So, it's difficult to talk to someone who you do not have any kind	
		of contact with - because I know I had some distant relatives in	
		Italy somewhere. And we didn't want to call them, since they are	
		too far away. We made an effort to tell someone in the extended	
		family who was closer to them, so that they could then transmit it.	
		But really, with people who I barely know, I just do not feel	
		comfortable to call them and confront them with something like	
		that." (Gisela, 46 y.o., unaffected)	
Protection of	26	"I never talked to my sister, I don't even know how she reacted (to	
others		my situation). She is scared (about cancer) She's really scared.	
		She's always been afraid." (Clara, 48 y.o., affected)	
	27	"I decided to inform only my cousins and not my uncles or aunts	
		because of their age. I felt it would be "too much for them". For	
		the same reason, I did not ask my parents to take the test. I didn't	

		want to put them in a difficult position, also in relation to possible	
		feelings of guilt for having transmitted me the mutation." (Gaia, 42	
		y.o., affected).	
	28	"Yes, I just think my dad has closed the chapter on that (cancer),	
		that's a story from the past that he's certainly carrying it with	
		himself, but he didn't want it to be present anymore. It's probably	
		wrong (of him), it's hard to describe, it's just a very extreme story	
		from the past. And for me it is just, that for me the genetic defect is	
		more acute/ present than for my father. But I think, as long as I'm	
		healthy, it's okay for my dad the way it is. And with my brother I	
		find it very difficult (to talk to him) because he has a lot of trouble	
		to find grip under his feet". (Antonia, 33 y.o., not affected).	
	29	"I think it makes a difference, because strangely enough I haven't	
		talked about it so much with my sister, because I've always been	
		afraid of scaring her, about me or whatever. With my partner or	
		with my circle of friends I could talk about it again very well. They	
		took it in a completely different way." (Rose, 50 y.o., unaffected).	
Respect of	30	"Each case is, I think, different. And it has to do with your own	
autonomy		experience. I think the only thing I would like to say is that I think	
		each of usmust do what is right for the person who is." (Perla,	
		50 y.o., unaffected).	
	31	"And in the end, everyone has to decide for themselves whether	
		they want to know or not and what to do about it. So, I am ready to	
		act or not. That's the thing, you have to think about it and make	
		your mind up about it already before taking the test". (Daniela, 50	
		y.o., unaffected)	
	32	"He is in the field (of medicine) and he is not married () I don't	
		know if it is also related to the desire for children. If one knows	
		that he can pass it on, one worries, if one has other plans, one	
		does not. If one day he should have a daughter, he might change	
		his mind. I had these stages, from something far away until it	
		became too much, and I made decisions, it was indeed a path."	
		(Sonia, 34 y.o., unaffected).	
	33	"I struggle to understand and accept my cousins' decision to ignore	
		what was said (about the genetic risk) and to do nothing about it."	
		(Gaia, 42 y.o., affected)	

Proband-mediated communication: The complexity of the arbitrating process and the urgency of support

The principles of action that guide the decision of probands to communicate or not genetic information to relatives are multiple and dynamic. They can change depending on the relative, the situation, the time, the anticipated reaction to communication, etc. Nonetheless, there are some possible interconnections between these logics and several individual and family characteristics, commonly known to influence family communication. These characteristics are the gender, the age and stage of life, and the socioeconomic and sociocultural context of the relative; probands' personal and family experiences with illness and genetic testing; personality traits of both the proband and the relative, their levels of health literacy and their geographical and affective distance; and family dynamics. In Table 4 we summarize the characteristics that, according to our data, most frequently influenced the different logics while Table 5 provides quotes to support findings about the complexity of the arbitrating process.

Logics	Responsibility	Self- preservation	Protection of others	Respect of autonomy
Individual	Emotional	Geographical	Emotional	Age/stage of life
and family proximity		and emotional	proximity	(of the relative)
factors		distance		
	Personal/family	Personal	Age/stage of life	Health literacy (of
	experience of	experience of	(of the relative)	the relative)
genetic		illness		
	testing/illness			
	Personality traits	Family dynamics	Family dynamics	Gender (of the
				relative)
	Gender (of the	Personality traits	Personality traits	Emotional
	relative)		(of the relative)	proximity/distance
1	1		1	

Table 4: Interconnection between logics and characteristics affecting familycommunication.

The same characteristics may support different and contradictory logics, and this may disorient or even paralyse the proband. For instance, in emotional proximity, the sense of responsibility frequently conflicts with the logics of protection of others or respect of their autonomy. This is the case, some participants wanted their close relatives not to lose the opportunity for early cancer prevention but at the same time, they did not want to scare them or to force their choices. This ambiguity may be a difficult burden to afford (quotes 34 and 35). In cases of cancer affected probands, the sense of responsibility frequently

conflicts with the logic of self-preservation. Probands may feel the duty to inform relatives but at the same time also feel the burden that talking about themselves may entail. It is also possible that logics may support each other, thus strongly encouraging the proband to adopt specific communication behaviours (quote 36). In case of male relatives, our data show that the underestimation of the risk by both the proband and the relative, may both attenuate the sense of responsibility and reinforce the respect for the autonomy of others (quote 37). Logics frequently come into play simultaneously and continuously interact, leading to a high level of complexity and sometimes to a real "dilemma" that forces the proband to engage in a process of arbitration. Life situations keep changing and probands have to constantly navigate variable and complex dynamics alone with frequent difficulties and feelings of inadequacy (quotes 38 and 39). Finally, it is important to note that the difficulty of managing communication with each relative is compounded by the need to harmonise communication at the family level. The way one communicates with a close relative, for example, cannot but influence the decision to communicate to another close relative due to their existing relationships, which adds significant complexity to the management of communication.

Our data did not show a direct interconnection between the way healthcare providers addressed family communication and the logics adopted by probands. Only the logic of responsibility was reinforced with a forthright communication from healthcare providers. Nevertheless, a supportive and continuous communication or concrete interventions from healthcare providers helped (or could have helped) participants in dealing more easily with the difficulties arising from the arbitrating process (quotes 40 and 41).

 Table 5: Arbitrating process

Themes	Quotes	Supporting quotes	
Complexity	34	"I'm not going to upset him (my son). I just it's so that I don't miss	
of the		out on something and thenand then that's it." (Federica, 40 y.o.,	
arbitrating		unaffected).	
process 35 "No, my		"No, my daughter does not do any checks and does not want to do the	
		test. () It's her choice, sometimes we tell her but nobody can force	
		her, she does what she feels. () On the one hand as a mother maybe	
		I would like that but I live this well Maybe my daughter is a little	
		less determined". (Bruna, 67 y.o., affected)	
	36	"I did not tell to my father because this will take on enormous	
		proportions for him and me, it will add something to me". (Katarina,	
		33 y.o., unaffected)	
	37	"I also realize with my brother that he really doesn't want to talk	
		about it, because with men it's like this that the disease only comes to	
		them when they're in their 50s and 60s. () But for him it's right at	
		the moment that he doesn't know and he doesn't think about it."	
		(Antonia, 33 y.o., not affected).	
	38	"It was only two years ago that I had more to do with my cousins and	
		that I realized that the two of them didn't know much and didn't have	
		much information. And yes, I felt a bit guilty afterwards, because I	
		thought I should have informed them a lot more." (Gisela, 46 y.o.,	
		unaffected)	
	39	"So, I know that my cousin whowho started the whole thing	
		(communication to relatives), she had a hard time with it. She had the	
		impression that shethat she was dropping a bomb. She was not well	
		for a while. Moreover, when she knew I was positive, she was afraid	
		to see me. () She was afraid that I would be mad at her". (Federica,	
	10	40 y.o., unaffected)	
	40	"I'm satisfied with what they fold me (The doctor) talked to me	
		well, she explained me well () I immediately sent the test results	
		to my two sisters because of what Dr. G. tola me to tell to my family	
		and I also informed all the other family members . (Sabina, 52 y.o,	
	41	<i>unajjeciea) "When Lung told the negative to the test to be descent a lattern</i>	
	41	when I was tota the result, he tota me that he had prepared a letter	
		for the jumilies, that I had to assiribute. It explained what to do and	
		inal you had to approach. () I thought it was good, it was important,	
		(Christing 47 v. o. unaffected)	
	40	 impression that shethat she was dropping a bomb. She was not well for a while. Moreover, when she knew I was positive, she was afraid to see me. () She was afraid that I would be mad at her". (Federica, 40 y.o., unaffected) "I'm satisfied with what they told me (The doctor) talked to me well, she explained me well () I immediately sent the test results to my two sisters because of what Dr. G. told me to tell to my family and I also informed all the other family members". (Sabina, 52 y.o, unaffected) "When I was told the result, he told me that he had prepared a letter for the families, that I had to distribute. It explained what to do and that you had to approach. () I thought it was good, it was important, it gave importance, credit, I thought, to what was happening." (Christine, 47 y.o., unaffected) 	

4. Discussion

The study focused on proband-mediated communication of genetic risk by exploring, from the probands' perspective, the communication chain, namely how genetic

information proceeds from healthcare providers to probands and from probands to relatives. We analysed two main steps of this chain: the communication between healthcare providers and probands, and probands' decisions about disseminating genetic information to relatives. Consistent to other studies [3, 17, 25, 27, 32], our results show that supporting proband-mediated communication of genetic information is complex, challenging for healthcare providers, and has limited application in clinical practice. Particularly, we identified three levels of complexity related to the way family communication is addressed by providers, with lack of standardization arising an issue of inequality in care delivering, the way information is received and interpreted by probands, with a difficulty due to the clinical situation and the participants' choices to give other priorities, and the way information is followed-up and supported by the healthcare system, with a fragmentation of the system and a lack of continuity and of coordination confirmed also by other studies [20, 25].

Regarding probands' decision to communicate or not genetic information to relatives, consistent with our data, individual and family characteristics influencing this decision-making process have been identified in the literature [6-14]. However, our study introduced a specific perspective of analysis, focusing on the rationale behind this decision-making process, and interpreted the role of these characteristics through the prism of the dynamic and often contradictory logics behind the communication decision. What emerges is a high level of complexity in the arbitrating process of family communication, which the proband has to continuously navigate through. Probands are usually alone in this process due to critical aspects identified in the first step of the communication chain.

Our study thus confirms the difficulties of proband-mediated communication, leading to poor communication around genetic information within the family, as highlighted in the

literature [17-18]. Above all, these difficulties may place a significant burden on probands, who risk experiencing disorientation or paralysis in the action to be taken.

The criticalities seen in the first and second steps of the communication chain could apparently suggest the opportunity of introducing provider-mediated forms of communication. More active and direct approaches adopted by healthcare providers, which were also embraced by some participants in our study, could potentially simplify and facilitate the process of communicating genetic information to relatives, enhance standardization, and promote equity by enabling access to reliable and accurate information for all relatives. However, our data, and data from an independent Swissbased sample [33], suggest that probands do not want to be excluded from the process of communicating genetic information to their relatives. Survey data collected as part of the CASCADE study indicate that only one in three or fewer individuals with HBOC- or LSassociated pathogenic variants endorsed provider-mediated communication [24]. Other studies also show a preference for proband involvement in the family communication process [11, 18, 34]. If we consider the multiple logics of communication identified in this study, it is clear that these are understandable and legitimate rationales, as communication of genetic risk may have crucial consequences for the individual's life. Probands are therefore the only ones in the position to modulate the logics in a sustainable way.

These considerations suggest that provider-mediated communication should not be oriented in replacing the role of probands in the communication process, but rather in supporting them when navigating the different logics and the complexity of family communication, empowering them to reflexively construct their own decision from a range of available options. The concept of "relational autonomy" [35] may be of particular interest to highlight the nature of the support provided by healthcare providers to probands in this particular context. Providers should help not only or not so much probands to make independent choices, but to make choices that make sense for them and that enable them to live their life in their own way, thus promoting their autonomy, where autonomy means self-governance [36]. Therefore, it may be necessary to help probands understand what is important for themselves, clarify the implications of the different choices, make priorities, and consider strategies to manage the competing logics. In a context in which patient centeredness is more and more valuable, thus, our data suggest the necessity to support probands rather than replacing them in their role as communicators.

Our study has some limitations. First, the analysis of the communication chain is based only on the perspective of probands and, for the sake of sample homogeneity, our participants were only women HBOC mutation carriers. It will be interesting in the future to get the perspective also of healthcare providers and of relatives to give a broader picture of the communication chain and of male probands to describe similarities and differences based on gender. Participants were on average 7 years post genetic testing. This may have affected memories of their own experiences but also allowed a more neutral and accomplished view. Moreover, the majority of participants had some college education and this may have somewhat conditioned the results. Finally, we also do not know if our findings may be extend to other hereditary cancer conditions, as found in other studies [37].

Despite these limitations, this study provides an in-depth insight in the communication process of genetic information within the family. This is due to the specific hypothesis that guided our research process, i.e., the existence of a communication chain with the proband at its center. Moreover, the large sample from three linguistic regions of

58

Switzerland and the involvement of several researchers in the data collection and analyses has enriched the interpretation process. These results may be extended to other countries with similar legal conditions (privacy laws) and social context (national healthcare system, family solidarity). Cultural differences, on the contrary, might influence the logics of communication and their interactions.

Some important concrete actions, both at the clinical and healthcare system level, are needed to improve the management of family communication of genetic cancer risk. The main leads suggested by the study include first of all improving healthcare providers – proband communication in quality, continuity, personalization and dedicated moments, through providers' education and standardization of procedures. The development of instruments for tailored communication (children, men, distant and close family, etc.) has to be accelerated to fill in the existing gap and facilitate the communication process [38]. Healthcare-providers have to help probands in understanding and governing their communication logics and in framing genetic communication as «useful news» more than as «bad news». It is essential to identify a "communication manager" that can help the proband to make sense of all the challenges, to find the right way to communicate with the different relatives, and to navigate the system over time. Promoting genetic literacy among the lay people and health-professionals is a fundamental prerequisite for fostering family communication and the implementation of cascade genetic testing.

Overall, our study suggests the need to adopt a patient-centered approach focused on the relationship and the dialogue, in a continuum of care. This empowers probands to manage family communication, by clarifying relevant issues, setting well-considered priorities, and developing strategies to reduce eventual contradictions among communication logics.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization: M.C.K., M.C.Z. and C.P.; methodology: M.C.Z. and C.P.; validation: C.P. and M.C.Z.; formal analysis: C.P.; M.A.; R.S.; A.K.G.; investigation: M.C.K.; M.C.Z. and C.P.; resources: N.B., P.O.C., R.G.G.; C.M. and M.R.; data curation: C.P.; writing—original draft preparation: C.P. and M.C.Z.; writing—review and editing: M.C.K., M.A.; R.S.; A.K.G.; N.B., M.C.Z., P.O.C., R.G.G., C.M. O.P., C.P. and M.R.; visualization: C.P.; supervision: M.C.K. and M.C.Z.; project administration: C.P., M.C.K., M.C.Z.; funding acquisition: M.C.K., N.B., M.C.Z., P.O.C., R.G.G., C.M. R.G.G., C.M. and M.R.

References

- Federal Assembly of the Swiss Confederation. Federal Act on Human Genetic Testing. [2017-09-08]. https://www.fedlex.admin.ch/eli/cc/2007/131/en
- Rothstein MA. Reconsidering the duty to warn genetically at-risk relatives. Genet Med. 2018;20(3):285-290. doi: 10.1038/gim.2017.257. Epub 2018 Feb 1. PMID: 29388945.
- Menko FH, Ter Stege JA, van der Kolk LE, Jeanson KN, Schats W, Moha DA, Bleiker EMA. The uptake of presymptomatic genetic testing in hereditary breastovarian cancer and Lynch syndrome: a systematic review of the literature and implications for clinical practice. Fam Cancer. 2019;18(1):127-135. doi: 10.1007/s10689-018-0089-z. PMID: 29846880.
- 4. Pedrazzani C, Ming C, Bürki N, Caiata-Zufferey M, Chappuis PO, Duquette D, Heinimann K, Heinzelmann-Schwarz V, Graffeo-Galbiati R, Merajver SD, Milliron KJ, Monnerat C, Pagani O, Rabaglio M, Katapodi MC. Genetic Literacy and Communication of Genetic Information in Families Concerned with Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer: A Cross-Study Comparison in Two Countries and within

a Timeframe of More Than 10 Years. Cancers (Basel). 2021 Dec 13;13(24):6254. doi: 10.3390/cancers13246254. PMID: 34944873; PMCID: PMC8699808.

- 5. Bowen DJ, Makhnoon S, Shirts BH, Fullerton SM, Larson E, Ralston JD, Leppig K, Crosslin DR, Veenstra D, Jarvik GP. What improves the likelihood of people receiving genetic test results communicating to their families about genetic risk? Patient Educ Couns. 2021 Apr;104(4):726-731. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2021.01.001. Epub 2021 Jan 7. PMID: 33455827; PMCID: PMC8005444.
- Schwiter R. et al. (2018) How can we reach at risk relatives? Efforts to enhance communication and cascade testing uptake: a mini-review. Current Genetic Medicine Reports. 6:21-27.
- Lafrenière D, Bouchard K, Godard B, Simard J, Dorval M. Family communication following BRCA1/2 genetic testing: a close look at the process. J Genet Couns. 2013;22(3):323-35.
- Seymour KC, Addington-Hall J, Lucassen AM, Foster CL. What Facilitates or Impedes Family Communication Following Genetic Testing for Cancer Risk? A Systematic Review and Meta-Synthesis of Primary Qualitative Research. J Genet Counsel. 2010; 19: 330-342.
- Lieberman S, Lahad A, Tomer A, Koka S, BenUziyahu M, Raz A, Levy-Lahad E. Familial communication and cascade testing among relatives of BRCA population screening participants. Genet Med. 2018 Nov;20(11):1446-1454. doi: 10.1038/gim.2018.26. Epub 2018 Mar 29. PMID: 29595811.
- Pollard S, Kalloger S, Weymann D, Sun S, Nuk J, Schrader KA, Regier DA. Genetic testing for hereditary cancer syndromes: patient recommendations for improved risk communication. Health Expect. 2020 Aug;23(4):884-892. doi: 10.1111/hex.13062. Epub 2020 Apr 27. PMID: 32338425; PMCID: PMC7495068.

- Seven M, Shah LL, Yazici H, Daack-Hirsch S. From Probands to Relatives: Communication of Genetic Risk for Hereditary Breast-Ovarian Cancer and Its Influence on Subsequent Testing. Cancer Nurs. 2022 Jan-Feb 01;45(1):E91-E98. doi: 10.1097/NCC.000000000000876. PMID: 32804756.
- Dean M, Tezak AL, Johnson S, Pierce JK, Weidner A, Clouse K, Pal T, Cragun D. Sharing genetic test results with family members of BRCA, PALB2, CHEK2, and ATM carriers. Patient Educ Couns. 2021 Apr;104(4):720-725. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2020.12.019. Epub 2021 Jan 5. PMID: 33455826; PMCID: PMC8005459.
- Dwyer AA, Hesse-Biber S, Flynn B, Remick S. Parent of Origin Effects on Family Communication of Risk in BRCA+ Women: A Qualitative Investigation of Human Factors in Cascade Screening. Cancers (Basel). 2020 Aug 17;12(8):2316. doi: 10.3390/cancers12082316. PMID: 32824510; PMCID: PMC7464326.
- 14. Dwyer AA, Hesse-Biber S, Shea H, Zeng Z, Yi S. Coping response and family communication of cancer risk in men harboring a BRCA mutation: A mixed methods study. Psychooncology. 2022 Mar;31(3):486-495. doi: 10.1002/pon.5831. Epub 2021 Sep 28. PMID: 34582073.
- 15. Leenen CH, Heijer Md, van der Meer C, Kuipers EJ, van Leerdam ME, Wagner A. Genetic testing for Lynch syndrome: family communication and motivation. Fam Cancer. 2016;15(1):63-73.
- Seven M, Shah LL, Daack-Hirsch S, Yazici H. Experiences of BRCA1/2 Gene Mutation-Positive Women With Cancer in Communicating Genetic Risk to Their Relatives. Cancer Nurs. 2021 May-Jun 01;44(3):E142-E150. doi: 10.1097/NCC.000000000000796. PMID: 32022782.

- 17. Hodgson J, Gaff C. Enhancing family communication about genetics: ethical and professional dilemmas. J Genet Couns. 2013;22(1):16-21.
- Dheensa S, Fenwick A, Shkedi-Rafid S, Crawford G, Lucassen A. Health-care professionals' responsibility to patients' relatives in genetic medicine: a systematic review and synthesis of empirical research. Genet Med. 2016 Apr;18(4):290-301. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.72. Epub 2015 Jun 25. PMID: 26110233; PMCID: PMC4823639.
- Healey E, Taylor N, Greening S, Wakefield CE, Warwick L, Williams R, Tucker K. Quantifying family dissemination and identifying barriers to communication of risk information in Australian BRCA families. Genet Med. 2017 Dec;19(12):1323-1331. doi: 10.1038/gim.2017.52. Epub 2017 May 11. PMID: 28492536.
- 20. Mendes Á, Paneque M, Sousa L, Clarke A, Sequeiros J. How communication of genetic information within the family is addressed in genetic counselling: a systematic review of research evidence. Eur J Hum Genet. 2016;24(3):315-25.
- 21. Henrikson NB, Blasi P, Figueroa Gray M, Tiffany BT, Scrol A, Ralston JD, Fullerton SM, Lim CY, Ewing J, Leppig KA. Patient and Family Preferences on Health System-Led Direct Contact for Cascade Screening. J Pers Med. 2021 Jun 10;11(6):538. doi: 10.3390/jpm11060538. PMID: 34200550; PMCID: PMC8230217.
- 22. Menko FH, Aalfs CM, Henneman L, Stol Y, Wijdenes M, Otten E, Ploegmakers MM, Legemaate J, Smets EM, de Wert GM, Tibben A; Dutch Society for Clinical Genetics. Informing family members of individuals with Lynch syndrome: a guideline for clinical geneticists. Fam Cancer. 2013 Jun;12(2):319-24. doi: 10.1007/s10689-013-9636-9. PMID: 23535968.
- 23. Sermijn E, Delesie L, Deschepper E, Pauwels I, Bonduelle M, Teugels E, De GrèveJ. The impact of an interventional counselling procedure in families with a BRCA1/2

gene mutation: efficacy and safety. Fam Cancer. 2016 Apr;15(2):155-62. doi: 10.1007/s10689-015-9854-4. PMID: 26748927; PMCID: PMC4803813.

- 24. Sarki M, Ming C, Aissaoui S, Bürki N, Caiata-Zufferey M, Erlanger TE, Graffeo-Galbiati R, Heinimann K, Heinzelmann-Schwarz V, Monnerat C, Probst-Hensch N, Rabaglio M, Zürrer-Härdi U, Chappuis PO, Katapodi MC, On Behalf Of The Cascade Consortium. Intention to Inform Relatives, Rates of Cascade Testing, and Preference for Patient-Mediated Communication in Families Concerned with Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer and Lynch Syndrome: The Swiss CASCADE Cohort. Cancers (Basel). 2022 Mar 23;14(7):1636. doi: 10.3390/cancers14071636. PMID: 35406409; PMCID: PMC8997156.
- 25. Derbez B, de Pauw A, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, de Montgolfier S. Supporting disclosure of genetic information to family members: professional practice and timelines in cancer genetics. Fam Cancer. 2017 Jul;16(3):447-457. doi: 10.1007/s10689-017-9970-4. PMID: 28293859.
- 26. Chopra I, Kelly K.M. Cancer Risk Information Sharing: The Experience of Individuals Receiving Genetic Counseling for BRCA1/2 Mutations. J Health Commun. 2017; 22(2): 143-152.
- 27. Peterson EB, Chou WS, Gaysynsky A, Krakow M, Elrick A, Khoury MJ, Kaphingst KA. Communication of cancer-related genetic and genomic information: A landscape analysis of reviews. Transl Behav Med. 2018;8(1):59-70.
- 28. Katapodi MC, Viassolo V, Caiata-Zufferey M, Nikolaidis C, Buhrer-Landolt R, Buerki N et al. Cancer Predisposition Cascade Screening for Hereditary Breast/Ovarian Cancer and Lynch Syndromes in Switzerland: Study Protocol. JMIR Res Protoc. 2017; 6 (9): 1-17.

- Morgan, D.L. & Krueger, R.A. The Focus Group Kit: Volumes 1-6. 1998; London, New Delhi: Thousand Oaks, Sage.
- Caiata-Zufferey M. & Aceti M. Loin des yeux, loin du cœur ? Socio-anthropologie,
 45 | 2022, 249-266. DOI : https://doi.org/10.4000/socio-anthropologie.11762
- 31. Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory (2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- 32. Fadda M, Chappuis PO, Katapodi MC, Pagani O, Monnerat C, Membrez V, Unger S, Caiata Zufferey M. Physicians communicating with women at genetic risk of breast and ovarian cancer: Are we in the middle of the ford between contradictory messages and unshared decision making? PLoS One. 2020 Oct 8;15(10):e0240054. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240054. PMID: 33031463; PMCID: PMC7544052.
- 33. Simond E., Davoine E., Katapodi M.C. and Unger S. Dissemination of Genetic Information in Swiss Families with Lynch Syndrome: A Qualitative Exploratory Study. Clinical Oncology & Research 2020; 3(1): 2-5. doi:10.31487/j.COR.2020.01.01
- 34. Forrest LE, Burke J, Bacic S, Amor DJ. Increased genetic counseling support improves communication of genetic information in families. Genet Med. 2008;10(3):167-72.
- 35. Dove ES, Kelly SE, Lucivero F, Machirori M, Dheensa S, Prainsack B. Beyond individualism: Is there a place for relational autonomy in clinical practice and research? Clin Ethics. 2017;12(3):150. doi:10.1177/1477750917704156
- 36. Entwistle V.A., Carter S.M., Cribb A. & McCaffery K. (2010). Supporting patient autonomy: the importance of clinician-patient relationships. Journal of general internal medicine, 25(7), 741-745
- 37. Smit AK, Bartley N, Best MC, Napier CE, Butow P, Newson AJ, Tucker K, Ballinger ML, Thomas DM, Jacobs C, Meiser B, Goldstein D, Savard J, Juraskova I; PiGeOn authorship group. Family communication about genomic sequencing: A qualitative study with cancer patients and relatives. Patient Educ Couns. 2021 May;104(5):944-952. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2020.10.022. Epub 2020 Oct 20. PMID: 33129629.
- 38. Baroutsou V, Underhill-Blazey ML, Appenzeller-Herzog C, Katapodi MC. Interventions Facilitating Family Communication of Genetic Testing Results and Cascade Screening in Hereditary Breast/Ovarian Cancer or Lynch Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cancers (Basel). 2021 Feb 23;13(4):925. doi: 10.3390/cancers13040925. PMID: 33672149; PMCID: PMC7926393.

CHAPTER 4 – THIRD ARTICLE

Addressing disparities in genomic healthcare through the nursing workforce: The ACCESS framework

Authors: Maria C. Katapodi, Carla Pedrazzani, Sivia Barnoy, Efrat Dagan, Muriel Fluri, Tarsha Jones, Sue Kim, Meghan L. Underhill-Blazey, Melissa K. Uveges, Andrew A. Dwyer.

Publishedin:Frontiersingenetics,14,1337366.https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2023.1337366

Abstract: Efforts are needed across disciplines to close disparities in genomic healthcare. Nurses are the most numerous trained healthcare professionals worldwide and can play a key role in addressing disparities across the continuum of care. ACCESS is an empirically-based theoretical framework to guide clinical practice in order to ameliorate disparities in genomic healthcare. The framework was developed by the International Nursing CASCADE Consortium based on evidence collected between 2005 and 2023 from individuals and families of various ethnic backgrounds, with diverse hereditary conditions, and in different healthcare systems, i.e., Israel, Korea, Switzerland, and several U.S. States. The components of the framework were validated against published scientific literature. ACCESS stands for Advocating, Coping, Communication, cascadE Screening, and Surveillance. Each component is demonstrated in concrete examples of clinical practice within the scope of the nursing profession related to genomic healthcare. Key outcomes include advocacy, active coping, intrafamilial communication, cascade screening, and lifelong surveillance. Advocacy entails timely identification of at-risk individuals, facilitating referrals to specialized services, and informed decision-making for testing. Active coping enhances lifelong adaptation and management of disease risk. Effective intrafamilial communication of predisposition to hereditary disease supports cascade testing of unaffected at-risk relatives. Lifelong surveillance is essential for identifying recurrence, changes in health status, and disease trajectory for life-threatening and for life-altering conditions. ACCESS embeds genomics in already established professional nursing roles, and provides a standardized, systematic, situational, and unifying guide to nursing practice. When appropriately enacted it will contribute towards equitable access to genomic resources and services.

1. Introduction

While the 'genomic era' introduced a new understanding of health and illness, it is paralleled by significant disparities in accessing genomic services and benefiting from technological advances, raising concerns about growing disparities in healthcare (National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine, 2018). Genomic disparities affect patients, at-risk individuals, and families and are particularly prominent for racial, ethnic, and gender minorities, and for children, medically underserved, and geographically dispersed groups. Barriers to genomic healthcare are multilevel and include health finance structures, societal and cultural norms, provider bias, and concerns of discrimination and misuse of genomic information. An important contributor to genomic disparities is the relative lack of genetic specialists (Baars M et al., 2005; Ormond et al. 2018).

Nurses are the most numerous and among the most trusted of health professionals with a global workforce of 27.9 million (World Health Organization, 2020) and provide services to various settings, from remote rural areas to highly specialized centers. Nurses can play

an important role in genomic healthcare after integrating genomic competences in nursing practice (Calzone et al., 2010). However, there is a need for a unifying model to guide nursing practice and surmount the growing genomic health disparities. To fill this gap, this Perspective presents ACCESS, an empirically-based theoretical framework that was developed by a panel of nurses from different countries and healthcare systems, studying different populations and genomic conditions.

2. Methods

ACCESS is based on a structured, rigorous process synthesizing empirical evidence with diverse populations in terms of gender, race and ethnicity, geography, and healthcare systems. It utilizes findings from more than sixty peer-reviewed publications of the investigators involved in the development of the framework over the past 18 years (2005 - 2023) on 'common', life-threatening conditions, e.g., hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC), and on rare, life-altering conditions, e.g., Kallmann syndrome (Supplementary Table 1). The development of ACCESS involved a sequential process with iterative refinement. The framework is based on the critical assumption that nursing employs a person- and family- centered approach to care. Investigators reflected on broad themes running through their studies and identified desired outcomes for reducing disparities and improving genomic healthcare. Findings were examined for similarities across populations, countries, and healthcare systems, and were organized according to the continuum of care. As a validation step, and a safeguard against potential bias, we juxtaposed our findings against studies focusing on genomic disparities that were identified by a systematic scoping review and a policy document analysis that examined the current state of genomics in nursing (Puddester et al., 2023; Thomas et al., 2023).

3. Results

ACCESS stands for Advocating, Coping, Communication, cascadE Screening, and Surveillance and provides a standardized, systematic, situational, and unifying guide to enable practicing nurses contribute towards decreasing disparities in genomic healthcare (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Schematic of the ACCESS framework. ACCESS proceeds from advocating for equitable access to care, to providing decisional support, to supporting active coping that precedes intra-familial communication of risk and cascade screening of relatives, and is followed by ongoing surveillance. Image credits: thenounproject.com

3.1 Advocating for access to services

Advocacy involves timely identification of at-risk individuals, facilitating access to reliable services, and promoting informed decision-making for testing as a prerequisite to decisions aligned with individual values and preferences. Advocating for access to services involves nurses, especially in primary care, taking a detailed medical history and

a three-generation family history to identify at-risk individuals and refer them to specialized services. Addressing out-of-pocket costs and insurance barriers remove roadblocks to genomic services, especially for those who are less likely to have genetic testing due to financial barriers. In countries with national or mandatory insurance coverage (e.g., Switzerland, Korea, Israel), variations in insurance coverage may create disparities in accessing testing or potentially lifesaving risk-reducing surgeries (Barnoy et al., 2023).

Health literacy barriers among underserved, low income, and less educated communities hinders integration of genomic information in health decision-making. Nurses can reach individuals with limited health literacy and numeracy and increase access to genomic healthcare by using professional competencies in patient education and outreach, along with culturally and linguistically appropriate education materials. Effective strategies include limiting the amount of information delivered in one counseling session, using lay language and understandable and actionable terms, assessing patient comprehension, employing "teach-back" strategies, and employing digital health technologies (Barr et al., 2018).

3.2 Active coping and family communication

A family-based approach to communicating risk for genomic diseases can leverage bonds within a family network and can reach individuals with irregular interactions with healthcare providers. However, it is not uncommon for individuals with disease-causing variants to conceal genomic information from first-degree relatives as well as from more distant or estranged relatives (Srinivasan et al., 2020). Family communication involves navigating and managing complex and potentially conflicting individual and family needs. The process is most effective when individuals engage in active coping strategies (e.g., seek expert advice and support) as opposed to avoidant coping. Active coping precedes management of disease risk, while intra-familial communication is essential for subsequent cascade testing of relatives. This is especially important under the current regulatory milieu that precludes direct contact between healthcare providers and at-risk relatives without the consent of the tested individual (Henrikson et al., 2020). Individuals with disease-causing variants need support to initiate disclosure of testing results to relatives, and relatives' active coping response will lead to seeking reliable information and support from healthcare professionals, and to an informed decision regarding initiating or forging cascade testing. Nurses can support and empower individuals with disease-causing variants by adopting a patient-centered, tailored approach that fosters therapeutic relationships and open dialogue, considering the realm of the individual, family, and healthcare system.

3.3 Cascade genetic screening

Using genetic testing to identify asymptomatic individuals with disease-causing pathogenic/likely pathogenic (P/LP) variants is an important genomic public health intervention. Cascade screening refers to the process of extending genomic services to biological relatives of individuals harboring disease-causing P/LP variant(s) to inform risk management of relatives, while decreasing unnecessary healthcare expenditures for relatives that test negative. The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Office of Public Health Genomics classifies HBOC, Lynch syndrome (LS), and familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) as 'Tier-1' genetic conditions (Khoury and Dotson, 2021). Tier 1 conditions are identified through genetic testing, and are actionable, meaning that

implementing evidence-based guidelines can result in improved, measurable public health outcomes. Cascade screening involves asymptomatic individuals being educated about and considering testing for the P/LP variant in the family. Cascade screening enables asymptomatic individuals to access specialized services, receive accurate information, and initiate appropriate risk management.

Post-testing consultation usually includes a discussion about cascade screening yet, this aspect typically represents a relatively small portion of the patient encounter. Cascade screening may be more likely when healthcare providers have direct contact with relatives (Frey et al., 2022). However, approximately 70% of countries worldwide have in place legislation regarding privacy and protection of personal information, including genomic information (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 2021). Such legislation precludes healthcare providers from directly contacting at-risk relatives. Nurse-led, pre- and/or post-genetic testing consultations focused on enhancing active coping and family communication can also facilitate disclosure of genomic information and catalyze cascade genetic screening. A nurse-led cascade screening program for FH in Western Australia demonstrated cost-effectiveness and reduced incident of cardiovascular disease by 25-50% over 10 years (Ademi et al., 2014). A cascade genetic screening program for FH in the Netherlands, facilitated by specialized nurses who carried out home visits for consent, pre-testing counseling, blood sampling for genetic testing, and collection of personal and family data, yielded a participation rate of 90% within the first 5 years, and identified approximately 3% of the FH population in the Netherlands (Umans-Eckenhausen et al., 2001). Within 20 years, the program has identified and treated an estimated 42% of the total FH population in the Netherlands (Besseling et al., 2015).

3.4 Ongoing surveillance

After receiving a genomic diagnosis, individuals face multiple health- and life-altering decisions that relate to risk-reducing and screening behaviors, reproduction, interpersonal relationships, occupation, and career. Continuity of care and long-term patient-provider relationships are the basis for assessing psychosocial adaptation to living with a genetic diagnosis. For individuals harboring P/LP variants in genes underlying life-threatening conditions (e.g., HBOC), ongoing surveillance with biomarkers and serial imaging is critical for managing risk and detecting cancer (re)occurrence. For rare, non-life-threatening diseases (e.g., Kallmann syndrome), ongoing surveillance is essential for monitoring disease progression and for comprehensive chronic care. The therapeutic relationship that grows from continuity of care helps identify patients' challenges and creates opportunities to intervene with education and counseling or appropriate referrals (e.g., reproductive specialists), thus, supporting comprehensive, coordinated, interprofessional care.

3.5 Applying the ACCESS framework to nursing practice

ACCESS provides a standardized, systematic, situational, and unifying guide to nursing practice that enables practicing nurses to help close disparities in genomic healthcare. ACCESS embeds genomics in already established professional nursing roles, which when appropriately enacted, enable equitable access to genomic resources and services. Table 1 provides concrete examples of nursing practice relating to each of the components.

Table 1. Examples of applying the ACCESS framework to nursing practice

"A" <u>A</u>dvocacy

- <u>Enhance access</u>: provide documentation to facilitate insurance coverage for genetic counselling and testing and to address other economic barriers e.g., coverage for subsequent treatment.
- <u>Decisional support</u>: use active listening techniques to reflect back values and preferences for genetic testing decisions.
- <u>Genetic literacy and numeracy</u>: elicit and evaluate understanding of and attitudes towards genomic healthcare with tailored and linguistically appropriate education materials.
- <u>Identification:</u> identify "red flags" indicating a genomic condition in personal or family health history. Apply the "too"/"two" rule i.e., recognizing that genomic conditions may produce extreme phenotypes ("too") or may cause disease in bilateral organs ("two"). Taking and documenting a 3-generation family history using standard nomenclature; identifying those who could benefit from genomic services.
- <u>Referrals</u>: Provide information and anticipatory guidance about genetic counselling and make referrals to such services.

"C" <u>C</u>oping

- <u>Addressing unique needs of caregivers</u>: evaluate levels of distress and cancer worry and develop supportive care resources.
- <u>Individualized approach</u>: tailor approach to respond to client's priority concerns and informational needs. Use "teach back" to assess and ensure comprehension.
- <u>Narrative nudges:</u> highlight aspects of patient narratives that shift the perspective towards "living with" a diagnosis rather than being "defined by" a diagnosis.
- <u>Reframing, emotional support, and stress reducing interventions</u>: use active listening and therapeutic communication to reframe fears and concerns as opportunities to improve health and support relatives, organize personal exchanges with other affected persons.
- <u>Therapeutic listening</u>: use a strengths-based approach to foster confidence in coping with challenging situations and health threats.
- <u>Uncertainty management:</u> assess for sources of and responses to uncertainty, offer psychosocial and educational support.

"C" <u>C</u>ommunication of risk

- <u>Coaching</u>: provide tailored coaching with modeling and opportunities to build self-efficacy.
- <u>Cultural norms</u>: assess cultural norms and patterns of familial communication.

- <u>Supporting and empowering</u>: Inquire about people who can initiate and maintain family communication about hereditary conditions. Support in informing biological relatives with letters and build communication strategies for direct information.
- <u>Therapeutic education</u>: provide information, supporting documents, anticipatory guidance on possible emotional reactions, and reinforcement to build self-efficacy for family discussions.

"ES" Cascad<u>E</u> <u>S</u>creening

- <u>Nurse-led interventions:</u> implement rigorous evidence-based interventions that enhance uptake of cascade genetic screening among relatives.
- <u>Referral sources</u>: provide information on costs of genetic counselling and testing, and insurance coverage to relatives.
- <u>Resource materials</u>: have materials and resources at hand regarding disease management, prophylaxis, expert care that can be passed on to relatives.

"S" <u>S</u>urveillance

- <u>Continuity and long-term care:</u> assist navigating through lifelong challenges and life-altering decisions (i.e., risk-reducing surgery, fertility preservation). Provide long-term support in specialized clinics.
- <u>Disease recurrence</u>: follow established, evidence-based ongoing disease-specific surveillance activities (i.e., imaging, blood tests, biomarkers, etc.).
- <u>Lifestyle</u>, <u>stress reduction</u>, and <u>health promoting behavioral counseling</u>: enhance health promoting and risk-reducing behaviors. Recognize and address patient experience about risk-reducing surgery, support living with side effects.
- <u>Therapeutic relationship</u>: use trust in the therapeutic relationship to provide ongoing coping reinforcement, emotional support, and strengths-based encouragement tailored to the individual, familial, and cultural norms.
- <u>Referrals for additional services</u>: assess for changing needs and refer for additional services (e.g., psychologists, reproductive specialists, etc.), providing comprehensive, coordinated and inter-professional care.

4. Discussion

Evidence of growing genomic health disparities and implications for individuals, families, and communities present an urgent call for action. A number of barriers must be overcome to ameliorate genomic disparities and harness the full potential of genomics for improving prevention, screening, diagnosis, and treatment for individuals, families, and communities. Nursing has a long history of promoting self-care and delivering holistic person-, family-, and community-centered care, that is built on sound assessment, effective communication, and therapeutic education (Fee and Bu, 2010). To keep pace with the growing integration of genomics into healthcare delivery, nurses at all levels of practice must apply relevant competencies in practice. Nurses are the most numerous of trained healthcare professionals (World Health Organization, 2020), involved in interprofessional care delivered in ambulatory and community-based facilities, hospitals, and integrated healthcare systems. Nurses provide care in a variety of settings ranging from remote, rural, and medically underserved communities to urban and tertiary care settings. Most importantly, nurses and nursing practice worldwide are governed by the International Council of Nurses Code of Ethics, which is concerned with issues of privacy, confidentiality, advocacy, equity, and responsibility (International Council of Nurses, 2021). Specifically, article 1.3 clarifies that nurses ensure that the individual and family receive understandable, accurate, sufficient and timely information on which to base care and treatment. Articles 1.4 and 1.5 hold nurses accountable towards confidentiality of personal information and respect for privacy of individuals needing care. Finally, articles 1.6 and 1.7 1.6 hold nurses responsible for initiating and supporting actions that meet the health and social needs of all people, and advocate and promote equity and social justice in accessing healthcare and other social and economic services. As such, nurses worldwide are uniquely positioned to play a key role in bridging

disparities in genomic healthcare. Nursing actions include safeguarding individual rights to privacy and confidentiality, advocating for equitable access to genomic services, as well as monitoring and calling out health practices and policies that contribute to widening healthcare disparities or to discriminatory practices related to genomic information.

We posit that ACCESS is a novel, simple, yet, practical framework that can be part of a multi-level approach to increase integration of genomic care into nursing practice. Importantly, the framework is not disease-specific, but rather it is flexible and relevant for a broad range of conditions and healthcare systems. Although ACCESS was initiated by and builds on work of an international nursing consortium, it is applicable to other disciplines involved in genomic healthcare, ranging from direct care provision at the bedside to health policy. The universal shortage of genomic specialists requires that healthcare providers and policy makers seek for novel, sustainable solutions regarding widespread implementation of germline testing, and streamlining of educational efforts regarding its implications, especially for prevention and targeted therapeutics (Al-Sukhun et al., 2023; Brown et al., 2023; Moyo et al., 2023). Implementation of a systematic guide, like the ACCESS framework, and partnering with the nursing workforce who is a major stakeholder in promoting health equity, may facilitate initiatives such as the Rare Genomes Project (RGP) (Serrano et al., 2023) and the Genomic Answers for Kids (GA4K) (Kane et al., 2023) reduce barriers and inequalities for underrepresented patients with rare genomic disorders and for children, respectively. Disparities are a global concern of patients and families, communities, providers, health systems, and public health agencies and are among the most anticipated challenges for healthcare policy for the next decade (Dolan et al., 2023; Hull et al., 2023; Phillips et al., 2023). Ameliorating

healthcare disparities, including genomic disparities, requires a unifying, comprehensive, and multilevel approach that can be embraced by and enacted upon across disciplines (e.g., bioethics, genetic counseling, medical genetics, medicine, nursing, social work, etc.). The components of ACCESS can be integrated both into education and practice as a standardized and systematic guide that can help create and maintain a pipeline of trained healthcare professionals who are vigilant about genomic disparities and engage in actions that equitably improve health and wellbeing for patients, families, and communities.

One potential limitation is that the ACCESS framework is that it is based on empirical evidence from studies conducted by the members of our consortium and not on a systematic literature search. Although members of our consortium conducted their studies worldwide, in a variety of settings, and with diverse patient populations, we cannot preclude the possibility of bias. However, the components of the ACCESS framework are consistent with conclusions of a recently published scoping review that examined health disparities and the current state of genomics in nursing (Thomas et al., 2023) and with other primary studies and systematic reviews referenced in this Perspective. Nevertheless, we propose that future studies should focus on implementation of the framework and evaluation of its effectiveness with rigorous research designs.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, A.A.D, M.C.K. and C.P.; methodology, A.A.D, M.C.K. and C.P.; validation, A.A.D, M.C.K. and C.P.; formal analysis, A.A.D, C.P., C S.B., E.D., M.F., T.J., S.K., M.L U-B., M.K.U., and M.C.K.; investigation, A.A.D and M.C.K.; resources, A.A.D, C.P., S.B., E.D., M.F., T.J., S.K., M.L U-B., M.K.U., and M.C.K; data curation,

A.A.D, M.C.K. and C.P.; writing—original draft preparation, A.A.D, M.C.K. and C.P.; writing—review and editing, A.A.D, C.P., S.B., E.D., M.F., T.J., S.K., M.L U-B., M.K.U., and M.C.K.; supervision, A.A.D. and M.C.K.; project administration, A.A.D. and M.C.K. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

References

Ademi, Z., Watts, G.F., Pang, J., Sijbrands, E.J., van Bockxmeer, F.M., O'Leary, P., Geelhoed, E., Liew, D. (2014). Cascade screening based on genetic testing is costeffective: evidence for the implementation of models of care for familial hypercholesterolemia. Journal of Clinical Lipidology. 8(4):390-400. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2014.05.008.

Al-Sukhun, S., Masannat, Y., Wegman-Ostrosky, T., Shrikhande, S. V., Manirakiza, A.,
Fadelu, T., Rebbeck, T. R. (2023). Germline Testing Around the Globe: Challenges in
Different Practice Settings. American Society of Clinical Oncology educational book.
American Society of Clinical Oncology. Annual Meeting, 43, e390522. doi:
10.1200/EDBK_390522

Baars, M., Henneman, L. & ten Kate, L. Deficiency of knowledge of genetics and genetic tests among general practitioners, gynecologists, and pediatricians: A global problem. Genet Med 7, 605–610 (2005). doi.org/10.1097/01.gim.0000182895.28432.c7

Barnoy, S., Dagan, E., Kim, S., Caiata-Zufferey, M., Katapodi, M.C., the CASCADE and the K-CASCADE Consortia. (2023). Privacy and utility of genetic testing in families with hereditary cancer syndromes living in three countries: The International Cascade Genetic Screening experience. Frontiers in Genetics. 14, 1109431. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2023.1109431.

80

Barr, J. A., Tsai, L. P., Welch, A., Faradz, S. M. H., Lane-Krebs, K., Howie, V., Hillman,
W. (2018). Current practice for genetic counselling by nurses: An integrative review.
International journal of nursing practice. 24(2), e12629. doi: 10.1111/ijn.12629

Besseling, J., Sjouke, B., Kastelein, J. J. (2015). Screening and treatment of familial hypercholesterolemia - Lessons from the past and opportunities for the future (based on the Anitschkow Lecture 2014). Atherosclerosis. 241(2), 597–606. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.06.011

Brown, J. T., McGonagle, E., Seifert, R., Speedie, M., Jacobson, P. A. (2023). Addressing disparities in pharmacogenomics through rural and underserved workforce education. Frontiers in genetics, 13, 1082985. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2022.1082985

Calzone, K.A., Cashion, A., Feetham, S., Jenkins, J., Prows, C.A., Williams, J.K., Wung, S.F. (2010). Nurses transforming health care using genetics and genomics. Nursing Outlook, 58(1):26-35. doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2009.05.001. Erratum in: (2010). Nursing Outlook, 58(3):163.

Dolan, D. D., Cho, M. K., Lee, S. S. (2023). Innovating for a Just and Equitable Future in Genomic and Precision Medicine Research. The American journal of bioethics: AJOB, 23(7), 1–4. Doi: 10.1080/15265161.2023.2215201

Fee, E., Bu, L. (2010). The origins of public health nursing: the Henry Street Visiting Nurse Service. American journal of public health. 100(7), 1206–1207. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.186049

Frey, M.K., Ahsan, M.D., Bergeron, H., Lin, J., Li, X., Fowlkes, R.K., Narayan, P., Nitecki, R., Rauh-Hain, J.A., Moss, H.A., Baltich Nelson, B., Thomas, C., Christos, P.J., Hamilton, J.G., Chapman-Davis, E., Cantillo, E., Holcomb, K., Kurian, A.W., Lipkin, S., ... Sharaf, R.N. (2022). Cascade Testing for Hereditary Cancer Syndromes: Should We

Move Toward Direct Relative Contact? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Clinical Oncology. JCO2200303. doi: 10.1200/JCO.22.00303.

Henrikson, N. B., Wagner, J. K., Hampel, H., DeVore, C., Shridhar, N., Williams, J. L., Donohue, K. E., Kullo, I., Prince, A. E. R. (2020). What guidance does HIPAA offer to providers considering familial risk notification and cascade genetic testing? Journal of law and the biosciences. 7(1), lsaa071. doi:10.1093/jlb/lsaa071

Hull, S. C., Brody, L. C., Sterling, R. (2023). Getting It Right: How Public Engagement Might (and Might Not) Help Us Determine What Is Equitable in Genomics and Precision Medicine. The American journal of bioethics: AJOB, 23(7), 5–8. doi: 10.1080/15265161.2023.2215154

Kane, N. J., Cohen, A. S. A., Berrios, C., Jones, B., Pastinen, T., Hoffman, M. A. (2023). Committing to genomic answers for all kids: Evaluating inequity in genomic research enrollment. Genetics in medicine: official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics, 25(9), 100895. doi: 10.1016/j.gim.2023.100895

Khoury, M. J., Dotson, W. D. (2021). From genes to public health: are we ready for DNAbased population screening? Genetics in medicine: official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics. 23(6), 996–998. doi: 10.1038/s41436-021-01141-w

International Council of Nurses. (2021). The ICN Code of Ethics for Nurses Revised 2021. https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/2023-06/ICN_Code-of-Ethics_EN_Web.pdf [accessed November 18, 2023].

Moyo, E., Moyo, P., Mashe, T., Dzobo, M., Chitungo, I., Dzinamarira, T. (2023). Implementation of Public Health Genomics in Africa: Lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic, challenges, and recommendations. Journal of medical virology, 95(1), e28295. doi: 10.1002/jmv.28295

82

National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine. (2018). Understanding Disparities in Access to Genomic Medicine: Proceedings of a Workshop. National Academies Press (US).

Ormond, KE, Laurino, MY, Barlow-Stewart, K, et al. Genetic counseling globally: Where are we now? Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet. 2018; 178C: 98–107. doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.c.31607

Phillips, K.A., Marshall, D.A., Adler, L., Figueroa, J., Haeder, S.F., Hamad, R., Hernandez, I., Moucheraud, C., Nikpay, S. (2023). Ten health policy challenges for the next 10 years, Health Affairs Scholar, 1, 1, qxad010, https://doi.org/10.1093/haschl/qxad010

Puddester, R., Limoges, J., Dewell, S., Maddigan, J., Carlsson, L., Pike, A. (2023). The Canadian Landscape of Genetics and Genomics in Nursing: A Policy Document Analysis. The Canadian journal of nursing research = Revue canadienne de recherche en sciences infirmieres, 55(4), 494–509. doi: 10.1177/08445621231159164

Serrano, J. G., O'Leary, M., VanNoy, G. E., Mangilog, B. E., Holm, I. A., Fraiman, Y. S., Rehm, H. L., O'Donnell-Luria, A., Wojcik, M. H. (2023). Advancing Understanding of Inequities in Rare Disease Genomics. Clinical therapeutics, 45(8), 745–753. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2023.06.010

Srinivasan, S., Won, N. Y., Dotson, W. D., Wright, S. T., Roberts, M. C. (2020). Barriers and facilitators for cascade testing in genetic conditions: a systematic review. European journal of human genetics: EJHG. 28(12), 1631–1644. doi: 10.1038/s41431-020-00725-5

Thomas, J., Keels, J., Calzone, K.A., Badzek, L., Dewell, S., Patch, C., Tonkin, E.T., Dwyer, A.A. (2023). Current State of Genomics in Nursing: A Scoping Review of

Healthcare Provider Oriented (Clinical and Educational) Outcomes (2012–2022). Genes. 14(11):2013. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes14112013

Umans-Eckenhausen, M. A., Defesche, J. C., Sijbrands, E. J., Scheerder, R. L., Kastelein, J. J. (2001). Review of first 5 years of screening for familial hypercholesterolaemia in the Netherlands. Lancet (London, England). 357(9251), 165–168. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03587-X

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. (2021). Data Protection and Privacy Legislation Worldwide, https://unctad.org/page/data-protection-and-privacy-legislation-worldwide [accessed November 18, 2023].

World Health Organization. (2020). State of the world's nursing 2020: investing in education, jobs and leadership. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240003279 [accessed November 9, 2023].

CHAPTER 5 - DISCUSSION

Three sequential studies have been conducted using quantitative and narrative data to examine the challenges of communication of genetic risk in HBOC and LS and to identify prospects for improving dissemination of genetic information and genomic healthcare at both public health and clinical practice levels. The hypothesis of the existence of a communication chain along which information about genetic risk proceeds from healthcare providers to probands and from probands to relatives, guided the whole research project.

A cross-study comparison has been conducted using family-based data collected in the US and in Switzerland over a timeframe of more than 10 years with 1933 individuals. The study examines genetic literacy in the context of HBOC, both at the individual and the family level, to understand how genetic information is passed on from healthcare providers to probands and from them to at-risk relatives. Results support the role of genetic counselling in improving genetic literacy [1-4] but also demonstrates persistent knowledge gaps also in individuals who have genetic consultations, suggesting that specific genetic information should be emphasized during consultations and highlighting the importance of continued follow-up with genetic services. This is important for individuals carrying a pathogenic variant to clarify and reinforce information and reassess cancer risk management plans [5-6]. The study also highlights gaps in the dissemination of genetic information among the lay public, among at-risk individuals and within family units, suggesting that at-risk relatives are poorly informed about inherited cancer risk and that family communication does not work very well. The study emphasises efforts to improve family communication of genetic information to be enhanced with interventions at the clinical (support to carriers of pathogenic variants), legal (healthcare providers

ability to provide tailored assistance with family communication) and public health (policies to improve access to genetic services) levels [5-8].

A descriptive cross-sectional study using narrative data collected from 48 HBOC women in three linguistic regions of Switzerland, provides an in-depth insight in probandmediated communication of genetic information. The study examines from the probands' point of view, the way they manage the process of communicating genetic risk from the moment in which they receive the information about the pathogenic variant from the healthcare provider, to the moment in which they decide to transmit this information or not transmit it to relatives. Results confirm difficulties and a high level of complexity both in the communication between healthcare providers and probands about family communication and in the proband's decision-making process about disseminating genetic information to relatives [4, 9-10]. The study identifies dynamic and often contradictory logics which are linked with the proband's rationality and values and are behind the communication decision. Probands have continuously to navigate through the complexity of the arbitrating process of family communication and they are usually alone in this process. Importantly, the study also showed that probands do not want to be excluded from the process of communicating genetic information to their relatives by the introduction of provider-mediated communication strategies. Consequently, healthproviders' role should not be oriented in replacing probands' role in the communication process, but rather in supporting them when navigating the complexity of family communication. These results call up the concept of "relational autonomy", according to which autonomy in decision-making can never be exercised in total independence since individuals are always socially influenced in their choices and their decisions [11-12].

Finally, a descriptive study presents the ACCESS framework, an empirically-based framework, to guide nursing practice for supporting disclosure of genetic information to relatives and, more in general, access to genetic services. The model was developed in a sequential, iterative process by an international group of nurse investigators from diverse healthcare systems and settings focusing on different genetic conditions. ACCESS includes unlocking access to care, providing decisional support, supporting active coping, family communication of risk and cascade screening of relatives, followed by ongoing surveillance. The framework is a simple and practical guide for nurses to address genomic health disparities and a natural extension of basic aspects of nursing, including advocacy and a person-centred approach emphasizing assessment, therapeutic relationship, active coping, and effective communication. Cascade genetic screening and ongoing surveillance represent timely opportunities for nursing to propel genomic healthcare and improve health and wellbeing outcomes for all.

The three studies conducted within this PhD work importantly emphasise the need for concrete efforts at the clinical and public health levels, to improve dissemination of genetic information through intrafamilial communication, and suggest specific actions that can be taken. Special emphasis is placed on nursing practice while also valuing an interprofessional approach. Promoting genetic literacy among the lay people and health-professionals, is a fundamental prerequisite for fostering family communication and the implementation of cascade genetic testing among at-risk relatives [1-2]. Addressing persistent knowledge gaps about genetics should be priority at the public health level and in clinical practice. Related to family communication of genetic risk, actions need to be taken to improve healthcare providers – proband communication in terms of quality, continuity, personalization and dedicated moments, through providers' education and

87

standardization of procedures. The development of instruments for tailored communication has to be accelerated to fill in the existing gap and facilitate the communication process [7]. According to our results, healthcare-providers have to help probands in understanding and governing their communication logics, in framing genetic communication as «useful news» more than as «bad news» and in dealing with the "relational autonomy" dimension embedded in communication of genetic risk [11-12]. Particularly, nurses could fill the role of "communication manager" that can help the proband to make sense of all the challenges, to find the right way to communicate with the different relatives, and to navigate the system over time. They are in a favourite position to promote a patient-centered approach focused on the relationship and the dialogue, in a continuum of care.

Finally, the ACCESS framework proposes a model to guide genomic nursing care and a large number of concrete and systematic nursing actions that can improve health and wellbeing for patients and families along the individuals' lifespan, providing quality, continuity and tailored genetic care. Evidence of growing genomic health disparities and negative family implications represent urgent calls to action for healthcare professionals and the discipline of nursing, seeking ways to incorporate genomics in professional roles, and advocate for equitable access to genomic resources and services for patients and families [13].

Limitations of the PhD thesis include a lack of the perspective of healthcare providers with respect to both the challenges of communication of genetic risk and prospects for clinical practice. Health professionals' point of view would have provided a broader picture of the elements at play and possible strategies for improvement. Moreover, the work only presents a number of critical elements and possible solutions but does not go into and explore their applicability and effectiveness.

Despite these limitations, this work provides an in-depth insight in the communication process of genetic information within the family, highlighting critical elements in the area of communication of genetic risk to family members and identifying strategies and interventions that could be implemented to overcome them. Future studies should examine the effects of different interventions (e.g. digital health platform) on dissemination of genetic information and on increasing genetic literacy. Further studies should also examine implementation in practice and effects of the ACCESS framework. This is a novel framework that easily can be integrated into clinical practice as a rational and active means for ameliorating genomic health disparities.

References

- Hurle, B.; Citrin, T.; Jenkins, J.F.; Kaphingst, K.A.; Lamb, N.; Roseman, J.E.; Bonham, V.L. What does it mean to be genomically literate?: National Human Genome Research Institute Meeting Report. Genet. Med. 2013, 15, 658–663, https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2013.14.
- Lea, D.; Kaphingst, K.; Bowen, D.; Lipkus, I.; Hadley, D. Communicating Genetic and Genomic Information: Health Literacy and Numeracy Considerations. Public Heal. Genom. 2011, 14, 279–289, <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000294191</u>.
- Dean M, Tezak AL, Johnson S, Pierce JK, Weidner A, Clouse K, Pal T, Cragun D. Sharing genetic test results with family members of BRCA, PALB2, CHEK2, and ATM carriers. Patient Educ Couns. 2021 Apr;104(4):720-725. doi:

10.1016/j.pec.2020.12.019. Epub 2021 Jan 5. PMID: 33455826; PMCID: PMC8005459.

- Dheensa S, Fenwick A, Shkedi-Rafid S, Crawford G, Lucassen A. Health-care professionals' responsibility to patients' relatives in genetic medicine: a systematic review and synthesis of empirical research. Genet Med. 2016 Apr;18(4):290-301. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.72. Epub 2015 Jun 25. PMID: 26110233; PMCID: PMC4823639.
- Roberts, M.C.; Dotson, W.D.; DeVore, C.S.; Bednar, E.; Bowen, D.J.; Ganiats, T.G.; Green, R.F.; Hurst, G.M.; Philp, A.R.; Ricker, C.; et al. Delivery Of Cascade Screening For Hereditary Conditions: A Scoping Review Of The Literature. Heal. Aff. 2018, 37, 801–808, https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1630.
- Force, U.P.S.T.; Owens, D.K.; Davidson, K.; Krist, A.H.; Barry, M.J.; Cabana, M.; Caughey, A.B.; Doubeni, C.A.; Epling, J.W.; Kubik, M.; et al. Risk Assessment, Genetic Counseling, and Genetic Testing for BRCA-Related Cancer. JAMA 2019, 322, 652–665, https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.10987.
- Baroutsou, V.; Underhill-Blazey, M.; Appenzeller-Herzog, C.; Katapodi, M. Interventions Facilitating Family Communication of Genetic Testing Results and Cascade Screening in Hereditary Breast/Ovarian Cancer or Lynch Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cancers 2021, 13, 925, https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13040925.
- Mendes Á, Paneque M, Sousa L, Clarke A, Sequeiros J. How communication of genetic information within the family is addressed in genetic counselling: a systematic review of research evidence. Eur J Hum Genet. 2016;24(3):315-25.
- 9. Derbez B, de Pauw A, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, de Montgolfier S. Supporting disclosure of genetic information to family members: professional practice and timelines in cancer

genetics. Fam Cancer. 2017 Jul;16(3):447-457. doi: 10.1007/s10689-017-9970-4. PMID: 28293859.

- Hodgson J, Gaff C. Enhancing family communication about genetics: ethical and professional dilemmas. J Genet Couns. 2013;22(1):16-21.
- Mackenzie, C., Stoljar, N. Relational Autonomy: Feminist Perspective on Autonomy, Agency and the Social Self. 2000. New York: Oxford University Press, p.4.
- 12. Dove ES, Kelly SE, Lucivero F, Machirori M, Dheensa S, Prainsack B. Beyond individualism: Is there a place for relational autonomy in clinical practice and research? Clin Ethics. 2017;12(3):150. doi:10.1177/1477750917704156
- Williams JK, Katapodi MC, Starkweather A, Badzek L, Cashion AK, Coleman B, Fu MR, Lyon D, Weaver MT, Hickey KT. Advanced nursing practice and research contributions to precision medicine. Nurs Outlook. 2016 Mar-Apr;64(2):117-123. doi: 10.1016/j.outlook.2015.11.009. Epub 2015 Nov 23. PMID: 26712384.

ADDITIONAL MANUSCRIPTS

Manuscript IV

Nikolaidis C, Ming C, Pedrazzani C, van der Horst T, Kaiser-Grolimund A, Ademi Z, Bührer-Landolt R, Bürki N, Caiata-Zufferey M, Champion V, Chappuis P, O, Kohler C, Erlanger T, E, Graffeo R, Hampel H, Heinimann K, Heinzelmann-Schwarz V, Kurzeder C, Monnerat C, Northouse L, L, Pagani O, Probst-Hensch N, Rabaglio M, Schoenau E, Sijbrands E, J, G, Taborelli M, Urech C, Viassolo V, Wieser S, Katapodi M, C: Challenges and Opportunities for Cancer Predisposition Cascade Screening for Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer and Lynch Syndrome in Switzerland: Findings from an International Workshop. Public Health Genomics 2018;21:121-132. doi: 10.1159/000496495

Manuscript V

Kim S, Aceti M, Baroutsou V, Bürki N, Caiata-Zufferey M, Cattaneo M, Chappuis PO, Ciorba FM, Graffeo-Galbiati R, Heinzelmann-Schwarz V, Jeong J, Jung MM, Kim SW, Kim J, Lim MC, Ming C, Monnerat C, Park HS, Park SH, Pedrazzani C, Rabaglio M, Ryu JM, Saccilotto R, Wieser S, Zürrer-Härdi U, Katapodi MC. Using a Tailored Digital Health Intervention for Family Communication and Cascade Genetic Testing in Swiss and Korean Families With Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer: Protocol for the DIALOGUE Study. JMIR Res Protoc. 2021;10(6):e26264. doi: 10.2196/26264. PMID: 34114954; PMCID: PMC8235289.

CONTRIBUTION

The thesis was conceptualized by Prof. Dr. Maria C. Katapodi and myself. My specific contributions to the studies that constitute the thesis are specified in each single article. I contributed to the design of the three reported studies and to data collection and analyses, I conducted results interpretation, writing and critical revision of the manuscripts. The third study has been conducted in close collaboration with Dr. Andrew A. Dwyer, who wrote the article with equal contribution, as well as Prof. Maria C. Katapodi. The development of the ACCESS model took place also with the contribution of several other members of the International Nursing CASCADE Consortium (prof. Sivia Barnoy, Dr. Meghan L. Blazey-Underhill, Dr. Efrat Dagan, Dr. Tarsha Jones, prof. Sue Kim). For manuscripts IV and V I contributed to writing and critical revision of the manuscripts.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank all those who made this thesis possible. Firstly, I would like to express my deep gratitude to prof. Dr. Maria C. Katapodi, my first advisor. During these four years of doctoral training, she always guided and supported me with great competence and professionality. Her persistent help, confident guidance and great comprehension have been of great value to me.

I would also like to express my appreciation to the other PhD committee members. Dr. Nicole Bürki, my second supervisor, always sustained this project with great interest providing me with valid and helpful suggestions and inputs. I am also extremely grateful to prof. Dr. Maria Caiata-Zufferey who gave me persistent and great support with her constant presence during these four years. Her contributions in developing the narrative part of this project were particularly of great value to me.

I would also like to gratefully thank all my colleagues at the University of Basel, Andrea Kaiser-Grolimund, Angela Duarte, Chang Ming, Islam Salikhanov, Mahesh Sarki, Marion Rudaz, Monica Aceti, Reka Schweighoffer, Sunyoung Park, Vicky Baroutsou and Yu-Yin Alleman. I thank all the members of the Cascade Consortium, particularly the colleagues at the Servizio di Genetica Medica EOC, Monica Taborelli, Olivia Pagani and Rossella Graffeo, and the colleagues with whom I collaborated internationally for this work, Andrew A. Dwyer, Efrat Dagan, Sivia Barnoy, Meghan L. Blazey-Underhill, Tarsha Jones, Sue Kim.

My sincere thanks to the University of Basel for the inspiring environment it offered me and the University of Applied Science and Arts of Southern Switzerland for sustaining and encouraging me over these years. I also thank the SSPH+ PhD program for supporting my studies and offering high-quality courses together with PPHS. Finally, I would enormously like to thank my whole family, especially my children, for the time I had to dedicate to my studies.